
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 

Licensing Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 26 June 2018 

7.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Hammersmith Town Hall 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Natalia Perez (Chair) 
Councillor Fiona Smith (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Colin Aherne 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
Councillor Rachel Leighton 
Councillor David Morton 
Councillor Zarar Qayyum 
Councillor Matt Uberoi 
Councillor Asif Siddique 
 

Councillor Victoria Brocklebank-Fowler 
Councillor Frances Stainton 
Councillor Matt Thorley 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Charles Francis 

Committee Coordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2062 
 E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees  
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting. A loop system for hearing 
impairment is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 

Date Issued: 19 June 2018 
 

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Licensing Committee 
Agenda 

 
26 June 2018 

 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  4 - 6 

 To approve as an accurate record, and the Chairman to sign, the 
minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 29 June 2017. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

  If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee. 
 

 

4.   ANNUAL LICENSING TEAM UPDATE  
 

7 - 20 

5.   REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY  
 
 
 
 
 
 

21 - 62 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Blank page 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

   London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Licensing 
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Thursday 29 June 2017 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Colin Aherne, Daryl Brown (Vice-Chair), Iain Cassidy, 
Vivienne Lukey, Frances Stainton, Guy Vincent and Natalia Perez (Chair) 
 
Officers: Heidi Titcombe – Principal Solicitor, Patrick Crowley – Licensing Manager, 
Adrian Overton – Licensing Officer, Lisa White – Licensing Officer, Karen Layug – 
Licensing Officer, Cristina Perez-Trillo – Licensing Officer, Ainsley Gilbert, Committee 
Coordinator. 

 
1. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 June 2016 be confirmed and signed as an 
accurate record of the proceedings. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Adam, Alford, Culhane, 
Donovan, Karmel, Law and Schmid. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. ANNUAL LICENSING TEAM UPDATE  
 
Patrick Crowley, Licensing Manager, introduced the Licensing Team’s Annual 
Update. He explained that an additional administrator now worked in the 
processing team, which was shared with the Royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea. Hammersmith and Fulham still had two dedicated Licensing Officers, 
Adrian Overton and Lisa White. The Police had also had staffing changes with 
Stuart Ratcliffe being promoted to Inspector and moved to a different area. PC 
Michael Payne had also moved on to a different area of work. Two new police 
officers had been appointed to deal with licensing and they were very enthusiastic. 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Patrick Crowley said that the team had carried out slightly fewer investigations than 
in 2015-16 but that the team had been involved in more regulatory action. More 
visits to businesses had taken place than in 2015-16.  
 
The number of Gambling Premises in the borough had remained static in 2016/17. 
 
Karen Layug explained that the team had made a number of improvements to their 
processes. Companies listed on licensing applications were now checked against 
the information held by Companies House. More information was now being 
recorded about fees to help the Council to comply with the new 2-part licensing 
fees regime. More information was generally being kept on premises to help 
officers with their work. Options were being explored for online applications and for 
improving information available through the website. 
 
Patrick Crowley explained that after a long consultation exercise the Statement of 
Licensing Policy had been approved by Full Council and would come in to force on 
3 July. The Statement of Gambling Policy would be renewed in 2019.  
 
Mr Crowley explained that the Immigration Act 2016 had placed additional duties 
on the Council, with officers now having to check an applicant’s right to work 
before processing their licensing application. The Home Office had also been 
added to the list of responsible authorities. There had also been a House of Lords 
Select Committee on the Licensing Act 2003 which had recommended radical 
changes, including the abolition of Licensing Committees and their functions be 
passed to Planning Committees. It was not considered that these changes would 
be made quickly, if at all. 
 
Councillor Aherne said that he was concerned about the proposal to pass powers 
to the planning committee. He asked what opportunity there would be to comment 
on any plans and whether the Council could object to them. Patrick Crowley said 
that if the government accepted the proposals they would almost certainly issue a 
consultation, which the Council could respond to. 
 
Councillor Aherne said that he was concerned about the attitude of Queens’ Park 
Rangers football club towards the Council’s investigation into breaches of their 
licence. Adrian Overton explained that the potential breaches were not able to be 
considered when the new licence was granted as the investigation was ongoing, 
however, the issue remained with the Council’s lawyers. 
 
The Chair asked why the joint visits with Customs and Immigration officers had 
been concentrated Uxbridge Road and Goldhawk Road. Adrian Overton explained 
that there was a concentration of small supermarkets and off licences in the area, 
which was the type of premises to be targeted.  
 
The Chair thanked Council officers for their work throughout the year, and paid 
tribute to the work of Inspector Ratcliffe and PC Payne for their work on Licensing 
in the borough over many years. 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

5. LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE PROCEDURE  
 
Heidi Titcombe explained that since drafting the report she had become aware that 
the Licensing Committee’s procedure had in fact been adopted at around the time 
the Licensing Act 2003 came into force. She said that she was aware that 
members had raised concerns about some of the proposed changes to the 
procedure and suggested that a working party of Councillors could meet with her to 
agree a new procedure. 
 
Councillor Aherne said that he did have concerns about the potential impact of 
parts of the new procedure and proposed that an informal working group be set up 
to discuss the issues. Councillor Cassidy seconded the motion and it was agreed. 
Councillors Perez, Aherne and Vincent volunteered to be part of the group, whilst it 
was agreed that Councillor Karmel would be invited to join it.  It was noted that any 
other interested Councillors would also be welcome. 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 7.25 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Ainsley Gilbert 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2088 
 E-mail: ainsley.gilbert@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 6



 0 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

ANNUAL MEETING OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 
i.  

26 JUNE 2018 

ANNUAL LICENSING TEAM UPDATE 

Report of the Director, Nicholas Austin, Director for Residents Services  

Open Report  

Classification – For Information 
Key Decision: NO  

Wards Affected: None 

Accountable Director: Nicholas Austin - Director for Residents Services 

Report Author: Patrick Crowley – Bi-Borough 
Licensing Team Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 7341 5601 
E-mail: patrick.crowley@rbkc.gov.uk  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides a summary update of the work and performance of the licensing team for the 

period between 1st April 2017 and 31st March 2018.  
 
1.2 Details have been included about the service improvement work undertaken in relation to the 

licence information displayed on the public register and the facility to make online applications. 
 
1.3 An update on the Bi-Borough Service Review for the Licensing Teams in the London Borough of 

Hammersmith and Fulham (LBHF) and the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC). 
 
1.4 Additional information has also been included on recent legislative changes. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That members of the Licensing Committee note the contents of this report and provide any 

comments. 
. 
3. INTRODUCTION 
 
3.1 The licensing team covers a wide range of statutory licensing, registration and enforcement 

functions in the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham. These functions cover premises 
which sell and supply alcohol or provide regulated entertainment or late night refreshment; 
gambling premises, gaming machines and lotteries; sex establishments and sexual entertainment 
venues, film classification; and scrap metal dealers.  

 
3.2 The Commercial Services team, within the Environmental Health Service Group, is responsible for 

the licensing/registration of explosives/fireworks, massage and special treatment premises and 
therapists, and for all animal health/welfare related licensing functions within the division, namely: 
Riding Establishments, Animal Boarding Establishments, Pet Shops and Dangerous Wild Animals.  

3.3 The licensing team work in partnership with others to promote the licensing objectives, improve 
public health and ensure that the Licensing Authority is fulfilling its functions efficiently. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

mailto:patrick.crowley@rbkc.gov.uk


 1 

 
4. REPORT 
 
4.1 Staffing 
 

The Licensing Team structure consists of a Bi-Borough Licensing Team Manager and Bi-Borough 
Licensing Administration Manager – three Licensing Officers, one Licensing Compliance Officer 
and two Licensing Compliance Assistants. One Licensing Officer, the Licensing Compliance Officer 
and two Compliance Assistants are jointly responsible for the checking and processing of all 
licensing applications, invoicing and collection of annual fees, general enquiries, dealing with 
opposed applications and associated administration tasks, whilst two Licensing Officers are 
responsible for presenting the cases at Committee, dealing with pre- application advice, licensing 
enforcement and supporting businesses to achieve compliance.  
 
In addition, the Policy and Projects Officer at the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea assists 
with the checking of licences prior to issue on a part time basis. 

 
4.2. Team performance, work activity and key achievements in 2017/18 
 
4.2.1 Licensing Act 2003 

 
The Authority has a statutory duty to carry out its function with a view to promoting the four licensing 
objectives. These are: 
 
▪ The prevention of crime and disorder; 
▪ Public safety; 
▪ The prevention of public nuisance; and 
▪ The protection of children from harm 
 
The work of the Licensing Team involves policy implementation, processing, inspection, 
enforcement, preparing reports for licensing sub-committee and service improvement. 
 
At 1 April 2018, the authority had 847 licensed premises and had granted 3272 authorisations for 
personal licence holders under the Licensing Act 2003. Tables 1 - 7 below illustrate the Licensing 
Authority’s performance during 2017/18. Data from 2016/17 has been included for comparison 
purposes. 
 
Applications 
 

Table 1: Licence/authorisation type No. of applications received  

2016/17 2017/18 

New premises licences applications 51 72 

New personal licences applications 238 230 

Premises licence Full variation applications 33 41 

Premises licence Minor variation applications 25 31 

Designated premises supervisor (DPS) variations applications 192 245 

Transfers of premises licences applications 51 68 

Temporary event notices (TENs) / Late Temporary event 
notices 

518 555 

 
 

Page 8



 2 

The data in Table 1 shows that there has been an increase of approximately 41% in the number of 
new premises licence applications and a slight decrease of approximately 3.5% in the number of 
new personal licences. 
 
There has been a further increase of approximately 7% in the number of temporary event notices, 
and of the 555 notices received in 2017/18, 143 (approximately 26%) were submitted under the 
late temporary event notice provisions. 
 
Sub Committee Hearings  

 
In 2017/18 a total of 22 licensing sub-committee sittings took place for new, variation and review 
applications, in comparison to 10 in 2016/17. A breakdown is provided below: 
 
Where a representation is made following an application for a new licence, or a full variation of 
a premises licence a sub-committee is arranged.  
 
Table 2 below illustrates the total number of sub committees for new and variation applications: 
 

Table 2: Total number of Licensing 
Sub Committee hearings 

New 
Premises 
Licence 

Variation of a 
Premises 
Licence 

TOTAL 

2016/17 4 5 9 

2017/18 12 5 17 

  

A summary of the decisions made by the sub-committee can be seen in Table 3 below: 
 

Table 3:  
Licensing 
Sub 
Committee 
outcomes 

New Premises Licence Variation of a Premises Licence  

Granted/ 
Agreed 

Agreed  
in  
part 

Refused 
 

Total Granted/ 
Agreed 

Agreed  
in  
part 

Refused 
 

Total 

2016/17 0 3 1 4 2 2 1 5 

2017/18 0 10 2 12 1 3 1 5 

 
Similarly, where the service receives a valid representation for a review of a licence a licensing 
review committee hearing is arranged.    

 

Table 4: Licensing 
Review Applications 
and outcomes 

Total No  
Action 

Modify 
Conditions 

Remove 
DPS 

Exclude  
Licensable  
Activity 

Licence 
Suspended 

Licence 
Revoked 

2016/17 
1* 0 1 0 0 0 0 

2017/18 5 0 3 0 0 0 2 
 
 

The increase in reviews shown in Table 4 above illustrates the focus our Trading Standards team 
have placed on off licences and the origins of the alcohol they sell.   
 
Three reviews were received relating to seizures of alcohol that had not had UK duty paid, and 
breaches of licence conditions.  
 
 

Page 9



 3 

Two reviews were received from the Metropolitan Police, of which one related to a joint operation 
with Immigration Officers that uncovered a number of illegal workers, and the other related to 
breaches of licence conditions.  The targeted partnership work between the Metropolitan Police 
and the Council’s licensing officers continues to influence better management of licensed premises 
within the borough.  
 
There were no other sub-committee hearings in 2017/18.  

 
A full report on all applications that went to Sub-Committee has been produced by Committee 
Services and can be seen at Appendix 1.   
 
Pre-application advice 
 
Since 2015 the Licensing Team has offered a pre-application advice service for small, medium, 
large licence applications and extra-large events.  Table 5 below illustrates the number of pre-
application advice Licensing Officers have given. 
 
 

TABLE 5: Licensing Pre Application  
Advice 

Small Medium Large Extra 
Large 
Events 

2016/17 
 

1 1 0 0 

2017/18 
 

8 3 1 0 

 
Appeals 
 
Appeals against the decision of the Licensing Sub-Committee can be brought by a number of 
parties involved in the application and licensing process e.g. the applicant, responsible authorities 
and other persons who have objected, or a licence holder in the case of reviews.  This area of work 
can take up a considerable amount of time and it is therefore important that the service monitors 
this area of work in light of the decisions made and the facts of each case. There was one appeal 
lodged against the decision of the licensing committee in 2017/2018, however this was 
subsequently withdrawn.  

 
An Appeal has recently been lodged at the Magistrates Court by a licence holder whose application 
to extend their premises licence to 3am was recently refused. Licensing officers, responsible 
authorities and legal will be meeting to prepare a response and establish the best course of action.  
 

4.2.2 Inspection and Enforcement  

 
Table 6: Inspection and Enforcement Total Number 

2016/17 2017/18 
Number of visits to businesses  280 399 
Number of complaints received / investigated 118 277 

Number of commenced investigations 43 54 

Number of prosecution cases sent to Legal Services 2  0 

Number of S19 Closure Notices 1 2 

Number of S161 Closure Orders 0 0 

Number of simple cautions 4 1 

Page 10



 4 

Table 6 illustrates the change in our approach to tackling and detecting non-compliance in licensed 
premises by acting on intelligence, and also our increased focus on working with licence holders 
(increased number of ‘visits to businesses’). 
 
Events Licensing   
 
Officers have been involved in the planning and enforcement for a number of events in the borough 
this year, such as the AEGON Tennis Championship, the annual boat race, Chesterton’s Polo in 
the Park, and a large number of smaller events held on the Borough’s open spaces. Officers have 
worked closely with the Events Team in applying for new licences for a number of the Borough’s 
open spaces. Additionally, regular liaison and inspections have also taken place at Chelsea, 
Fulham and Queens Park Rangers football stadiums along with ‘during performance’ inspections 
at the Hammersmith Apollo. 
 
The Prince, Lillie Road, SW6 
 
Within the Earls Court footprint, a new premises licence was applied for which included four 
commercial outlets, a closed down public house and a large area of waste land. The developers 
turned the area into a 900-capacity venue, with pop up eating establishments, bar and covered 
outside garden area. Officers were involved in numerous site visits, multi-agency meetings as well 
as liaising with the applicant and responsible authorities. The licence was granted and the premises 
are now open and trading. Officers regularly meet with the licence holder and police to discuss 
local issues to ensure the operation of the venue has a minimum impact on the area and on local 
residents. 
 
Westfield/BBC Development, White City 
 
This year a number of new licensed premises (both structures and open spaces) have opened 
within the new Westfield development and on the nearby BBC site. All of these projects have 
required substantial input from officers including site visits and, on some occasions, pre-application 
advice has been offered.  
 
In particular, the licensing team were involved in offering advice for a new event space on the 
junction of South Africa Road and Wood Lane (part of the Gateway site).The proposed site was 
originally an empty car park. Two new temporary structures will be installed on the site to form two 
theatre event spaces. There will also be ancillary structures for front of house circulation, bar, foyer, 
toilet spaces, office, changing areas and installation of plant equipment. After discussions with the 
Police Licensing team and the Council’s Noise team, recommendations for conditions concerning 
CCTV, dispersal policies and a noise management plan (amongst others) were made. These 
measures were included in the application when it was finally submitted. 
 
Officers were also involved in numerous meetings and discussions concerning licences for 
premises within the new extension of the Westfield centre. Hours and conditions were agreed with 
all of the sites before any applications were made.  
 
QPR, Loftus Road Stadium 
 
Further licensing inspections have been carried out at QPR this year after a number of breaches 
of conditions and warnings last year. The previous enforcement action led to a consultation with 
the licensing team on a new licence application. The application included extra conditions and the 
removal of other conditions which were poorly worded. Since the new licence has been in place 
there have been no further breaches of conditions. 

 
 
 

Page 11



 5 

4.2.3 Other Enforcement work  
 

One simple caution was issued in 2017/18, the result of which is summarised below 
 
Real China, Bradmore House, Hammersmith Broadway 
 
Following numerous inspections by licensing officers several breaches of the licence were 
witnessed. Due to continuous non-compliance the licence holder and designated premises 
supervisor were requested to attend an interview under caution. The licence holder admitted all the 
offences and was subsequently issued a simple caution for five offences under the Licensing Act 
2003.  
 

Suspended licences 
 
Due to a large number of premises being suspended for non-payment of annual fees, officers have 
been contacting and visiting premises to collect the outstanding debts. A number of premises were 
witnessed still trading whilst suspended and it became apparent that further action was required. 
Officers started issuing notices to the premises stating their licence would be reviewed unless they 
either ceased licensable activities or paid the annual fee. The Notice resulted in all premises 
complying/and or paying the outstanding debt. Officers will continue to monitor the suspended 
premises and take any necessary action. 
 
King’s Road Action Plan  
 
Following a substantial number of complaints regarding noise, crime & ASB linked to licensed 
premises in the King’s Road area, a meeting with residents, councillors and responsible authorities 
was held. As a result, numerous actions were taken by officers to tackle the issues effecting 
residents. These actions involved one to one meetings with the licence holders, group meetings 
with all the licence holders attending, CCTV monitoring the premises, out of hours monitoring of 
premises by officers. Additionally, a communication network was implemented between all the 
relevant licensed premises, which means they can alert each other of any issues in the area or 
problematic customers. Following the action by the team the premises are taking responsibility for 
their local area and, as a result, there has been a significant decrease in complaints. 
 
Belushis, Hammersmith Broadway Action Plan 
 
Due to a substantial number of violent incidents at the premises which has affected the crime 
figures on the Borough, officers have been working with the Police Licensing Team, management 
of the premises and the Chief Executive of the company to reduce the number of incidents linked 
to the premises. This has involved officers monitoring the premises, viewing a substantial amount 
of CCTV, giving advice, attending meetings, and contributing to an Action Plan in conjunction with 
the Metropolitan Police. The premises have been complying with the Action Plan and the 
recommendations made by officers. This has seen a significant reduction in crime and disorder 
linked to the premises.  

 

4.2.5 Current/on-going investigations 
 

Nisa Local, 51 Fulham Broadway 
 
In 2016 a simple caution was signed by the licence holder for a number of offences under the 
Licensing Act 2003. Following an incident where the premises failed to provide CCTV to the police 
a number of inspections have been undertaken, on each occasion numerous breaches of licence 
have been witnessed. Additionally, officers witnessed the sale of alcohol to a drunk person. Officers 
have carried out test purchases and requested CCTV from the premises. The investigation is 
ongoing and formal action such as prosecution or review of the licence is being considered. 

Page 12



 6 

Pick and Save, 39 Goldhawk Road 
 
These premises operate as an off licence and started selling alcohol via its website using their 
existing licence. After asking the licence holder to apply to amend their licence to included internet 
sales conditions this website was taken down. The premises have recently been asked to stop 
selling super high strength beers and ciders as they are contributing to the street drinking problem 
in the local area. After agreeing to do so further high strength beers have reappeared at the 
premises. The premises has also started to sell alcoholic ice drinks (slush puppies) which do not 
comply with food safety regulations. During a recent inspection an illegal worker was found in 
charge of the premises.  The investigation is ongoing and formal action such as prosecution or 
review of the licence is being considered. 
 
Jazz, 69 Goldhawk Road  
 
These premises have been highlighted by local Safer Neighbourhood Team (SNT) police officers 
as somewhere which regularly sells to street drinkers. During inspections they have also been 
found to be breaching a number of conditions attached to their licence.  The licence holder has 
been advised by the licensing authority and the Police, and has been asked to add a number of 
extra conditions to their licence. A premises licence review will be considered if a variation 
application is not made.  
 
Slug, Fulham Broadway 
 
Officers have received continuous complaints that ASB in the area is linked to this premises. 
CCTV has been asked to monitor the area. Following a review of the CCTV there appears to be 
concerns regarding the dispersal of customers from the premises in the early hours which maybe 
impacting on the local area. A meeting has been arranged with the licence holder to discuss the 
issues and to propose measures on how to reduce the impact of customers leaving the premises 
on local residents. 
 
W6, King Street 
 
Complaints have been received by the team that alcohol is being sold on credit to residents of the 
hostel opposite. The premises licence holder has been warned previously for this activity. The 
police licensing officer has met with the hostel and discussed possible actions. The licence holder 
has been requested to attend a meeting at the Police Station. 
 
Today’s Express, Lillie Road 
 
Complaints of ASB and disorder outside the premises.  A local resident states that the ASB is linked 
to the alcohol licence for these premises. An inspection has been carried out and officers are 
currently liaising with the local SNT team and the police licensing team. Officers will monitor to see 
if there is anything more the licence holder could do to prevent the disorder occurring. 
 
Blue Door, Fulham Road, SW6 
 
New premises opened up which has resulted in numerous complaints relating to noise and 
nuisance, ASB and allegations of drug dealing. Police and licensing officers have met with licence 
holder and are working closely with the Noise and Nuisance team to resolve the issues. The licence 
holder seems keen to resolve all matters and work with authorities and residents. Officers have 
highlighted a potential breach of planning and have reported this for investigation. Officers are 
currently monitoring the area at peak times. 
 
 
 

Page 13



 7 

Other work undertaken by the Licensing Team 
 
Ask for Angela 
 
Officers have been actively involved in promoting the ‘Ask for Angela’ scheme which has now been 
introduced across the borough. The scheme helps customers who may feel vulnerable in pubs and 
clubs to discreetly approach staff to ask for help. By ‘Asking for Angela’, customers can alert staff 
that they need to get away from someone they feel unsafe with, particularly if they are alone. 
Officers wrote to all on-licensed premises encouraging them to take part in the scheme. A poster 
was sent to them along with training material for their staff. The majority of premises have now 
been visited by officers and the visits have shown that the take up of the scheme is very high. The 
scheme has also been heavily promoted at pub watch meeting. Feedback on the progress of the 
scheme has been given at a the Social Inclusion Cabinet Member Board meeting.  
 
WAVE - Welfare and Vulnerability engagement training 
 
Officers contacted all on-licensed premises to invite them to attend training on the WAVE project. 
The training looks to improve awareness of vulnerability and responsibilities towards people visiting 
licensed premises and covers the following points:  
 

• Understanding what vulnerability is within the Licensed Economy and how to identify it. 

• Identifying things licence holders can do to assist in preventing and reducing harm to vulnerable 
people in licensed premises. 

 
Several short films will be shown as part of the training which will outline a number of scenarios. A 
discussion will take place afterwards to try and understand what measures could have been taken 
to prevent the incidents highlighted. 
 
Risk Assessments 
 
Currently there are approximately 300 premises in the borough which have not been risk assessed. 
Officers have been actively visiting these premises with the aim of reducing this number 
significantly. In addition, officers have incorporated a system whereby all new premises (new 
licences) are made the subject of a full risk assessment immediately after the licence has been 
granted. 

 
4.2.6  Gambling Act 2005 

 
The Authority has a statutory duty to carry out functions with a view to promoting the licensing 
objectives. These are: 
 

• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or 
disorder or being used to support crime; 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and 

• Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling. 
 
The team issues premises licences for the following; bingo halls, betting shops, adult gaming 
centres, family entertainment centres, casino and horse racing/dog tracks. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 8 

 Applications 
 

Table 7 below details the types or gambling premises in the borough.   
 

Table 7: Types of gambling premises Total 

2016/17 2017/18 

Adult Gaming Centres 2 2 

Betting Shops/ Track Betting 43 42 

Bingo 3 3 

Total 48 47 

 

As can be seen, there has been no significant change in the number of licensed gambling premises 
during the past 12 months. The reduction in one licensed betting shop was due to the closure and 
surrender of the licence of William Hill in Greyhound Road,  

The Gambling Act 2005 states that licensing authorities should aim to permit the use of a premises 
for gambling in so far as it thinks it is in accordance with the relevant codes of practice, guidance 
and reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. As such the Council should look to grant 
a licence unless there is clear evidence that to do so would be detrimental to one or more of the 
Gambling Act’s objectives.  

An interested party or a responsible authority may apply to the council to review a premises licence 
where the operator has failed to meet one or more of the licensing objectives. The decision will be 
based on whether the request for the review: 

 

• raises an issue relevant to any relevant code of practice, any relevant guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission, the licensing objectives for the Gambling Act, or the Statement of 
Gambling Principles; 

• is frivolous or vexatious; 

• will cause the licensing authority to alter, revoke (withdraw) or suspend the licence; or 

• raises grounds that are substantially the same as, or different from, grounds within an earlier 
request for a review or from representations made in relation to the application for the premises 
licence. 

 
There were no reviews of any Gambling Premises Licences in 2017/18. 
 

 

4.3 Service Improvements 
 

Data Integrity  
 
In the past 12 months work has continued to review and improve the recording and management 
of application and licence data held on the department’s licensing database (Uniform), including: 
  

• Development of additional access management reports to better manage the application work 
flow and improve data integrity. 

 

• Reviewing and updating the monitoring of all corporate licence holders on Companies House 
so that the team is kept up to date and receive notification of change of registered 
name/address and/or administration/liquidation affecting the validity of the premises licence. 

 

Page 15



 9 

• Refreshing of rateable value data on the Uniform database for all premises licences to ensure 
that the rateable value, fee band, and VOA reference number are correct. This has enabled 
application and annual fees to be charged at the correct rate. 

 
Work has continued to improve the way information is displayed to members of the public and 
licensees including: 
  
i) A review of licensing webpages for all functions covered by the licensing team, ensuring 

that web pages are well structured and up to date. 
  
ii) Improvements to the licensing information displayed on public access. 
 
iii) Yearly review of the actual costs associated with administering various licensing functions 

to calculate the associated application and licence fees (where we have the ability to set 
these fees) to ensure compliance with the EU Services Directive. 

 

4.4       Policy Update  
 
4.4.1 Statement of Licensing Policy  

 
The Licensing Act 2003 (“The 2003 Act”) requires every Council to have a ‘Statement of Licensing 
Policy’ (“SLP”) which will include information stipulated within the Secretary of State’s Statutory 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities in England and Wales, as amended from time to time.  
 
The Council’s SLP provides advice and guidance to the Licensing Authority when exercising its 
statutory functions as a Licensing Authority under the 2003 Act. The SLP is an essential tool to 
assist Responsible Authorities (mainly regulators) and the Licensing Committee during the decision 
making process to ensure that those decisions reached are sound and robust enough to withstand 
an appeal or judicial challenge. It also provides guidance to both applicants, objectors and 
professional advisers, and provides key information to the magistrates’ courts hearing appeals 
against licensing decisions. 
 
The 2003 Act also requires that the Council’s SLP be reviewed via public consultation, formally 
adopted and published every five years. The latest version of our SLP was published in June 2017 
and is next due to be reviewed in 2021/22. 
 
A link to the current policy can be found on the council website at:  
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/statement_of_licensing_policy_20
17_-_2022.pdf  

 
 

4.4.2 Statement of Gambling Policy 2016  
 

The Gambling Act 2005 requires all Licensing Authorities to review their Statements of Gambling 
Policy every three years.  Our own policy has to be reviewed, amended, adopted by Full Council, 
and published by the end of January 2019.  The draft, revised version was sent out for a three 
month public consultation exercise in May 2018.  All resident associations, responsible authorities 
and other stakeholders have been written to and advised of this review. 
A link to the current consultation can be found on the council website at: 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/business/licensing/licensing-policy 
 

 
 
 

Page 16

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/statement_of_licensing_policy_2017_-_2022.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/statement_of_licensing_policy_2017_-_2022.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/business/licensing/licensing-policy


 10 

4.4.3 Alcohol Licensing Strategy  
 

In addition to enforcement and the processing of licence applications, it is important that the team 
also has strategic aims that they work towards. The current strategic licensing goals of the team 
are to: 
 
(a) Make better use of intelligence from reported incidents/complaints when taking 

enforcement action or other interventions; 
(b) Support our local businesses and regeneration in the borough through advice and 

partnership working to help build shared prosperity; 
(c) Support and protect our residents by working with them to address any concerns that 

relate to the four licensing objectives; 
(d) Reduce the negative impact of alcohol harm by embedding public health within our role, 

when we carry out our duties; and 
(e) Being ruthlessly financially efficient in dealing with licence payments and in the 

deployment of our resources. 
 
We believe that these goals are aligned with the council’s priorities and will help to support a 
vibrant and diverse night time economy and a borough that we can be proud of. 

 
4.5 Shared management arrangements 
 

The shared management roles have worked well, with the Head of Service, Licensing Manager 
and Licensing Admin Manager roles being shared across the licensing team for Hammersmith & 
Fulham and Kensington and Chelsea. 
 
The two teams have been co-located at the Council Offices in Pembroke Road W8 since October 
2014, which has benefitted both teams in terms of sharing good practice, improving service 
delivery and reducing overall operational costs. 
 
The following benefits have also been realised from the shared management arrangements: 
 

• reducing overall operational costs to residents; 

• building in resilience to cater for future demand; 

• making service improvements; 

• maximising licensing income; 

• operating best practice: and 

• pooling professional technical expertise and competence 
 

4.6 Priorities for the next 12 months (in addition to current investigations and 
enforcement)  

 
Many of the priorities that were identified last year still remain, as follows: 

 
▪ Ongoing work to improve local pubwatch schemes. 
▪ Fully establish the accreditation process of officers in the Trading Standards team, so that 

they can issue Fixed Penalty Notices for the illegal sale of alcohol to underage children. 
▪ Work with business intelligence to improve the crime report information that the team 

receives. 
▪ Continue to make improvements to the licensing information displayed on Public Access. 
▪ Complete a full review and publish the revised Statement of Gambling Policy. 
▪ Continue to target premises that sell illegal (e.g. counterfeit or non-duty paid) alcohol. 
 
 

Page 17



 11 

5.  LEGAL CHANGES 
 
The Policing and Crime Act 2017 contained a section amending some parts of the Licensing Act 
2003.  This included the following: 
 

• The power for Licensing Authorities to suspend a Personal Licence for up to six months, or to 
revoke it, if the holder has been convicted of a ‘relevant offence’. 

• A requirement for Licensing Authorities to fully review any Cumulative Impact Policy (CIP) they 
have every 3 years.  This Authority has two CIPs that were last reviewed in 2017 and will need 
to be the subject of public consultation and full reviewed again in 2020.  A report will then need 
to be submitted to the Licensing Authority for a decision to be made regarding their continuation 
or cancellation. 

• The ability for licence holder to submit an appeal to the Magistrates Court against any ‘Interim 
Steps’ imposed by the Licensing Authority following an ‘Expedited Review’. 

• The ability for the Home Office to review and amend the Secretary of State’s Guidance without 
the need for any changes to be agreed by Parliament. 

 
The Immigration Act 2016 contained a section amending some parts of the Licensing Act 2003. 
This included the following: 
 

• A power of entry for Immigration Officers to licensed premises for the purpose of preventing or 
detecting illegal workers.   

• Giving Immigration Officers the ability to submit representations against some types of licence 
applications. 

• A requirement for a premises licence to be reviewed by the Licensing Authority should the 
premises become the subject of a ‘Illegal Working Compliance Order’ under the Immigration 
Act. 

• A requirement for the Council’s Licensing Officers to check that applicants for some types of 
licences have a right to work in the UK prior to progressing their applications. 

 
 

6. COMMENTS OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES  
 
6.1 As at 1 June 2018 there were 867 premises licences issued under the Licensing Act 2003 

and 47 gambling premises licence issued under the Gambling Act 2005. In addition the 
Council has granted 3312 personal licences under Licensing Act 2003 since 2005. 

 
6.2 The amount of licensing debt outstanding fell by 30% during 2017/18, decreasing from £26,783 in 

April 2017 to £18,995 by March 2018. This movement in year meant that there was no 
requirement for further contributions to the provision for doubtful debts during 2017/18.  

 
6.3 Implications verified by Lucy Varenne, Interim Head of Finance, Resident’s Services. 

 
 
7. COMMENTS OF THE DIRECTOR OF LAW) 
 
7.1 There are no legal implications arising from the body of this report. 
 
7.2 Implications verified by Adesuwa Omoregie, Principal Solicitor (Planning, Highways, Licensing and 

Property) 

 
 
 

Page 18



 12 

8.  IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
8.1  Businesses wishing to sell alcohol or provide facilities for entertainment, late night refreshment or  

gambling are required by law to be licensed. Under the Licensing Act 2003 application fees and 
annual fees are set by the Secretary of State. These fees have remained at the same level as 
when the Act came into force in 2005. Under the Gambling Act 2005 application fees and annual  
fees are set by the Council on a cost recovery basis, subject to a maximum fee depending on the 
type of premises and type of application. 

 
8.2  Operating without a licence, or in breach of licence conditions, is a criminal offence and 

substantial fines (or even imprisonment) can be levied by the court on conviction. If licence 
breaches are identified a graduated response is taken to try to achieve compliance without 
resorting to prosecution, in accordance with the Environmental Health Service Group 
Enforcement Policy, which is on the council website, at the link below. 

 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/lbhf_environmental_services_enfo
rcement_policy_2017.pdf  
 

9.  CONCLUSION 
 
9.2 Officers will continue to work in partnership with all statutory and other agencies to develop new 

processes to help with the effective operation of new and existing laws. Officers will continue to 
promote the selling of alcohol responsibly, through our strategic goals. 

 
List of Appendices 

 

Appendix Number Description 

Appendix 1 Applications heard at Sub Committee in 2017/18 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

No. Description of Background Papers Name/Ext  of 
holder of file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

 
 

Page 19

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/lbhf_environmental_services_enforcement_policy_2017.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/lbhf_environmental_services_enforcement_policy_2017.pdf


Appendix 1

Date of HearingPremises Postcode Type Ward Decision Description

19/04/17 AL REEF RESTAURANT SW6 1TL New premises licence North End Road Refused Application for a new premises licence - Basement and Ground Floor

QPR STADIUM - RANGERS STADIUM 

SOUTH AFRICA

W12 7PA New premises licence College Park/Shepherds Bush Withdrawn Application for a new premises licence for the consumption of alcohol on the premises only

22/06/17 MARI DELI W6 9TN variation of the premises 

licence Ravenscourt Park

Adjourned as late arrival of the applicant Application for a new premises licence

EAT 17

W6 8JA

new premises licence Fulham Reach/Hammersmith 

Broadway

Objections withdrawn so not considered Application for a new premises licence for sale of alcohol and recorded music indoors

26/07/17 MARI DELI W6 9TN variation of the premises 

licence Ravenscourt Park

Grant with Conditions Variation to reduce licensed hours

PIATE W6 0RR premises licence Ravenscourt Park Grant with Conditions Application for a new premises licence 

31/07/17 MACE STORES SW6 3UH new premises licence Palace Riverside Grant with Conditions New premises licence for sale of alcohol on and off the premises

03/08/17 BROADWAY BAR AND GRILL SW6 1BY variation of the premises 

licence

Fulham Broadway Removal of Conditions 33,34 and 39 and 

extension of hours refused

Variation to remove Conditions 33,34 and 39 and extend licensable hours

ALL IN 1 FOOD & WINE SW6 1NL variation of the premises 

licence

Fulham Broadway Not considered. Parties reach agreement 

before hearing

Application for a new premises licence on and off sales  of alcohol and non standard timings

16/08/17 WILD THYME W12 0PQ new premises licence Wormholt and White City Grant with Conditions New premises licence for consumption of alcohol on the premises

LIDL W12 8PP new premises licence

Addison

Not considered. Parties reach agreement 

before hearing

Application for a new premises licence for the consumption of alcohol off the premises

13/09/17 THE SKINNY KITCHEN W6 8JA new premises licence Fulham Reach/Hammersmith 

Broadway

Grant with Conditions Application for a new premises licence for on, off sales of alcohol and non standard timings

04/10/17 SWALLOW COFFEE SHOP W12 8EG new premises licence Hammersmith Broadway Grant with Conditions Application for a new premises licence for sale of alcohol on premises only

CHELSEA GRILL W14 9NS new premises licence North End Road Grant with Conditions Application for a new premises licence, provision of late night refreshments indoors and 

outdoors

25/10/17 PERI PERI CHICKEN BITES W14 9PP new premises licence North End Road Refused Application for a new premises licence, provision of late night refreshment indoors and 

outdoors

MEGANS SW6 4JA new premises licence Parsons Green and Walham Grant with Conditions Application for a new premises licence and also non standard timings

30/10/17 CO-OPERATIVE SW6 4LX new premises licence Town Grant with Conditions Application for a new premises licence for the sale of alcohol for consumption off the 

premises

LITTLE RED CANTINA W6 9NJ variation of the premises 

licence Ravenscourt Park

Vary licence as requested and add 

Conditions

Variation and removal of Condition 10. Also to extend hours, playing of music and off sales 

alcohol

29/11/17 A TO Z SUPERMARKET W14 9NX review of a premises licence North End Road Revoke premises licence Review

04/01/18 CITY NEWS W12 7JD review of a premises licence Shepherds Bush Green Revoke premises licence Review

CHICKEN COTTAGE SW6 1NJ new premises licence Fulham Broadway Grant with Conditions Application for a new premises licence, provision of late night refreshment indoors and 

outdoors

13/02/18 BELUSHI'S W12 8PH variation of the premises Shepherds Bush 

Green/Addison

Refuse and add CCTV condition Variation to remove Conditions 8, 9 and 15 and extend licensable hours

28/02/18 THE BROADWAY BAR AND GRILL SW6 1BY variation of the premises 

licence

Fulham Broadway Refuse Variation to extend the licensable hours

IMAGES LONDON SW6 1AA new premises licence Town Adjourned as applicant unable to attend Application for a new premises licence  for the sale of alcohol for consumption on the 

premises

14/03/18 A K DRINKS W12 8BL review application Askew Not suspended but imposed Conditions Review

THE NEW PANTRY W14 8TQ review application Avonmore and Brook Green Not suspended but imposed Conditions Review

28/03/17 IMAGES LONDON SW6 1AA new premises licence Town Adjourned until DPS in place New premises licence for the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises

TENDIDO CUATRO SW6 4LY review application Town Grant with Conditions Review

25/04/18 STRADA SW6 4SW variation of the premises 

licence Parsons Green and Walham

Adjourned to a later hearing to allow all 

parties to review the hearing information

Variation to alter opening hours and alter conditions  to amend the layout on the ground floor 

and basement

GREYHOUND NEWS W6 8NX new premises licence Fulham Reach Grant with Conditions Application for a new premises licence for the sale of alcohol for consumption on and off the 

premises

OM WINES W12 7JD new premises licence Shepherds Bush Green Refuse Application for a new premises licence for the sale of alcohol for consumption off the 

premises

Licensing Sub-Committee Hearings 2017-18

P
age 20



 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

ANNUAL MEETING OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 
i.  

26 JUNE 2018 

REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY 

Report of the Director of Resident Services 

Open Report 

Classification - For Information 
 

Key Decision: No 

Wards Affected: All 

Accountable Director: Nicholas Austin 

Report Author: Valerie Simpson 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3906 
E-mail: valerie.simpson@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. The Gambling Act 2005 requires every Council to have a ‘Statement of 
Gambling Policy’ which will include information stipulated within the 
Gambling Commission’s statutory Guidance to Licensing Authorities in 
England and Wales.   
 

1.2. The Council’s ‘Statement of Gambling Policy’ must undergo a thorough 
review and public consultation every three years.  It is now time for the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham to review its Statement of 
Gambling Policy (SGP) and undergo a public consultation exercise so that 
the latest version can be agreed by Full Council in October 2018 and 
published at the beginning of January 2019. 

 
1.3. This report advises about the changes made to the revised policy and the 

proposed timetable for consultation, prior to submission to Full Council for 
adoption. 

 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. That Members of the Licensing Committee note the report and the 
opportunities to comment on the draft revised Statement of Gambling 
Policy 2019 at Appendix 1. 
 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5

mailto:valerie.simpson@lbhf.gov.uk


3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires all licensing authorities to 
prepare and publish a statement of the gambling policy that they propose 
to apply in exercising their functions under the Act during each three-year 
period to which the gambling policy applies.  

 
4. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

4.1. The Council’s Statement of Gambling Policy provides advice and guidance 
to local authorities when exercising their functions under the Gambling Act 
2005. It also provides guidance to applicants and objectors.  
 

4.2. A Statement of Gambling Policy may last for a maximum of three years. It 
can be reviewed or revised by the authority at any time during that period. 
 

4.3. The first Statement of Gambling Policy took effect on the 3 January 2007. 
The Council’s current Statement of Gambling Policy 2016 took effect in 
January 2016 and expires in January 2019.  

 
4.4. The draft revised Statement of Gambling Policy 2019 at Appendix 1 is the 

Council’s fifth SGP and must be adopted by Full Council.  It then must be 
published at least 28 days before it comes into effect at the end of January 
2019. 

 
4.5. The draft revised SGP 2019 has been prepared and is currently the 

subject of a 12-week public consultation.  
 

5. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

5.1. The 2016 Statement of Gambling Policy has been revised to reflect 
changes in legislation and to emphasise the Gambling Commission’s 
Codes of Practice, particularly those Codes referring to the protection of 
children and vulnerable people.  
 

5.2. The main changes reflect the latest version of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance document, stronger references to the Commission’s Codes of 
Practice, updated links to various websites, and updated contact 
details. The more significant changes are summarised in table 1 below. 

 
Section of the SGP Changes made 

Paragraph 3.8       Children in Gambling Premises and underage gambling 

Paragraph 5.9 Indicating support, commitment and expectations for 
operators to engage with the ‘Betwatch’ scheme 

Paragraphs 5.10 
and 5.12     

Expectations of Local Risk assessments, in particular relating 
to children and vulnerable adults. 

Paragraphs 9.1  Further information relating to the Regulators Code 

Paragraph 15.4    Operation Makesafe and other safeguarding concerns 
regarding children on premises and underage gambling. 

Annex 3 Updated map of the borough relating to ‘Local Area Profiles’ 
Table 1: Summary of changes made to the Statement of Gambling Policy 

Page 22



 

6. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

6.1. The Statement of Gambling Policy must be reviewed, adopted and 
published by January 2019. 
 

6.2. To ensure that these statutory timescales are met, the consultation started 
on the 11 May 2018 and will close on the 3 August 2018.  This is so that it 
can be ready for the final Full Council meeting of 2018 in October.  

 
 

7. CONSULTATION 

7.1. The process for revising the policy is to circulate the draft amended policy 
for public consultation over a 12-week period, review and amend post 
consultation, report on the final draft at the Cabinet Member Board 
Meeting, Policy and Accountability Committee, then to Cabinet, and then 
to a meeting of the Full Council for formal adoption. 
 

7.2. All responses received will be considered, collated and analysed and the 
SGP will be revised where it is considered appropriate to do so. Details of 
all changes will be reported after the consultation concludes and the 
responses have been analysed.  

 
7.3. The proposed timetable for adoption is detailed in table 2, below. 

 

Activity Date(s) 

Public consultation 11 May 2018 – 03 August 2018 

Licensing Committee 26 June 2018 

Community Safety, Environment and 
Residents Services Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

03 July 2018 

 

 

Cabinet Meeting  08 October 2018 

Full Council 17 October 2018 
Table 2: Proposed timetable for the review of SGP 

 
The Review Process 

7.4. In reviewing the statement of gambling policy we have considered: 
 
▪ Changes to the gambling regime; 
▪ The promotion of the three licensing objectives; 
▪ The guidance issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005,  
▪ The current Statement of Gambling Policy 2013; 
▪ Local crime prevention  
▪ The Equality Act 2010 

 
 

 
 

Page 23



Consultation process 
 

7.5. A letter has been sent to all gambling premises and residents groups 
which specified the website address of an online consultation. The letter 
advised that paper copies of the consultation were available if required.  
The online consultation address was also emailed to all responsible 
authorities, Councillors and Stakeholders. A copy of the draft Statement of 
Gambling Policy is on the website for consultees to refer to as they make 
their response. 
 

7.6. The Act requires the licensing authority to consult on its Statement of 
Gambling Policy with the Police; those who represent the interests of 
gambling businesses in their area; and those which represent interested 
persons likely to be affected (Section 349 (3)). 

 
7.7. In addition to the statutory consultees, including the Local Safeguarding 

Children Board (LSCB) and the Public Health team, the following will also 
be consulted: 

 
▪ Trade associations  
▪ Residents’ associations  
▪ Businesses  
▪ Fire authority  
▪ Ward councillors  
▪ Neighbouring authorities  
▪ Trading Standards  
▪ Environmental Health  
▪ Chamber of Commerce  
▪ Social Inclusion Board 
▪ Substance Misuse and Offender Care Team 
▪ Safeguarding Adults Executive Board 
▪ Community Safety Partnership  
▪ Other relevant people who could be affected by this policy  

 
Issues for consideration  

 
7.8. The licensing authority can only consider matters within the scope of the 

Gambling Act, Guidance and associated Codes of Practice and cannot 
become involved in the moral issues relating to gambling. 
 
Licensing objectives 
 

7.9. Consideration must be given to the three licensing objectives below as 
well as the needs of businesses within the borough. 
 
▪ Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 
▪ Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and  
▪ Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling. 

Page 24

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/business/licensing/licensing-policy


Number of licences issued under the Act within the borough 
 

7.10. This Authority currently has the following number of premises with gaming 
permits or premises licences: 

 
▪ Adult Gaming Centres – 2 
▪ Betting Shops/Track Betting – 42 
▪ Bingo – 3 

 
8. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. The Council, when taking decisions in relation to any of its functions, must 
comply with its public sector equality duty as set out in s149 of the Equality 
Act 2010. A screening for the equalities impact assessment has been 
carried out on the effect of this policy. The policy has low relevance in 
relation to its impact on the protected characteristics as it applies to all 
licensed businesses.   
 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1   The Legal implications are set out in the body of the report. 
 
 Implications verified by: Poonam Rajput, Planning Solicitor (Property and 

Planning Team), 020 8753 6378 
 

10. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. There are no financial implications associated with the recommendations 
in this report. 

 
10.2. Implications verified by: Lucy Varenne, Interim Head of Finance – 

Residents Services, 020 7341 5777 
 

 
11. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

11.1 Local businesses within the Borough (including all those premises that are 
currently licensed under the Gaming Act 2005) will have an opportunity to 
comment on the draft policy, during the consultation period.  

11.2 The policy has an impact on how licensed premises should operate to 
promote the three licensing objectives and what will be taken into 
consideration when licensing decisions are made. Therefore, all applicants 
and licensed premises should be mindful about what is included in the 
policy. 

11.3 To help licence holders, officers in the Licensing Team will provide advice 
and guidance to help businesses to comply and will follow a “stepped 
approach” to any enforcement, in line with our enforcement policy. 

 

Page 25



 
12.       RISK MANAGEMENT  

12.1 The failure to meet new and existing statutory requirements is specifically 
addressed in the Environmental Health Service Group’s risk register. 
Controls in place to mitigate this risk include training, internal auditing, 
review of local area profiles and local risk assessments, periodic updates 
of the website and the business planning process. 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder 
of file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Statement of Gambling Policy 
2016 

Patrick Crowley 
020 7341 5601 

Environmental Health, 
Resident Services 
Pembroke Road 

2. The guidance issued under 
Section 25 of the Gambling Act 
2005 

Patrick Crowley 
020 7341 5601 

Environmental Health, 
Resident Services 
Pembroke Road 

3. Gambling Commission’s 
Licensing Authority Bulletin 
Statements of Licensing Policy 
2018 - 2022 

Valerie Simpson 
020 8753 3905 

Environmental Health, 
Resident Services 
Pembroke Road 

 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 - Draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2019 
 

statement_of_gamb

ling_policy_2019_-_2022_draft-1.pdf
 

Page 26

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/statement_of_gambling_policy_2016_-_2019_tcm21-199196.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/statement_of_gambling_policy_2016_-_2019_tcm21-199196.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/GLA5-updated-September-2016.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/GLA5-updated-September-2016.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/GLA5-updated-September-2016.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-January-2018.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-January-2018.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-January-2018.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-January-2018.pdf


STATEMENT 
OF GAMBLING POLICY 

JANUARY 2019 – JANUARY 20221 

Page 27



 

Under the Gambling Act 2005 (the Act), the Licensing Authority (We), must publish a 
statement of the principles which we are going to apply in relation to gambling. 

 
This revised Statement of Gambling Policy will take effect from the XX January 20196. 

 
We have prepared this Statement of Gambling Policy after considering the guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission and the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 
2005. We have consulted on this policy and have considered any responses to the draft 
statement before adopting and publishing this final document. 

 
We will review and publish this statement at least every three years, and consult again 
about any amended parts. If you would like more information or have any comments 
about this policy, please contact us directly. 
 
If you would like to see the full list of comments made on the draft statement, please 
contact us. 
 
All references to specific paragraphs in the Gambling Commission Guidance relate to the 
version published in March 20155th edition published in September 2015 (Parts 17, 18 
and 19 updated in September 2016). A copy of this version is available on the Council’s 
website.  Further editions of the Guidance may be published throughout the duration of 
this Statement of Gambling Policy.   

 

 
 

Licensing Section 
Transport and Technical Services 
PO Box 66532 
London 
W8 9GJ 

 
E-mail: licensing@lbhf.gov.uk 
Website: www.lbhf.gov.uk 
Phone: 020 8753 1081 

  

Page 28

mailto:licensing@lbhf.gov.uk
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/


 

Contents 
 

 
 

Section Page 
 

1. Introduction 4 - 5 

2. The borough 5 - 6 

3. General principles 6 - 9 

4. Premises licenses 9 - 10 

5. Conditions 10 - 13 

6. Responsible authorities  14 

7. Relevant representations and interested parties  14 - 15 

8. Reviews   15  

9. Enforcement 16 - 17 

10
. 

Exchanging information  17 

11
. 

Provisional statements 17 

12
. 

Temporary-use notices  17 

13
. 

Occasional-use notices  18 

14
. 

Consultation  18 

15 Adult gaming centres, family entertainment centres, 
 

licensed to sell alcohol, bingo premises, betting premises 

 
 

 18 - 19 

16
. 

Family entertainment centre not licensed to sell alcohol   19 

17
. 

Casinos   19 

18
. 

Tracks   20 

19
. 

Travelling fairs   20 

20
. 

Gaming machine permits for premises that sell alcohol   20 - 21 

21
. 

Prize gaming permits  21 

 22
. 

Club gaming and club machine permits  22 

23 Small Society Lotteries  22 - 23 

24 Other Information  23 - 24 

25
. 

Glossary  25 – 28 

 
 

Annex 1 Mandatory and default licensing conditions 29 – 32 

Annex 2 Local pool of licence conditions 33 – 34 

Annex 3 Local Area Profile Map 35 

Page 29



 

4 
 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Act introduced a unified regulator for gambling in Great Britain – the Gambling Commission – 

and a new licensing system for commercial gambling to be managed by the Commission or by local 
authorities, depending on the matter that needs to be licensed.  The only exceptions are spread 
betting (regulated by the Financial Services Authority), remote gambling and the National Lottery 
(regulated by the Gambling Commission).  We, the Licensing Authority, and the Gambling 
Commission, will share responsibility for all matters previously regulated by the Magistrates’ Court. 

 
1.2 The Gambling Commission will be responsible for granting operating and personal licences for 

commercial operators and personnel in the industry.  The Licensing Authority will issue premises 
licences for: 

 
• betting offices and racetracks; 
 
• • casinos; 
• bingo clubs; 
• adult gaming centres; and 
• family entertainment centres.  

We will also issue permits for: 

• gaming machines in alcohol-licensed premises, such as pubs; 
• gaming machines for members’ clubs; 
• gaming in members’ clubs; 
• family entertainment centres not licensed to sell alcohol (category-D machines only, that is, 

those that have the lowest level of stakes and prizes); 
• occasional - and temporary use -  notices; and 
• provisional statements. 

 
Licensing Objectives 

 
1.3 Under the Act, we must consider the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 of the 

Act.  The licensing objectives are: 
 

• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or 
disorder or being used to support crime; 

• making sure that gambling is carried out in a fair and open way; and 
• protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed/ or exploited by 

gambling. 
 
Under the Gambling Act 2005 ‘child’ means an individual who is less than 16 years old and ‘young 
person’ means an individual who is not a child but who is less than 18 years old. 

 
1.4 Under section 153 of the Act, when making decisions about premises licences and temporary- use 

notices, we should allow the premises to be used for gambling if we think it is: 
 

• in line with any relevant code of practice and guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; and 

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  1.1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Page 30



 

5 
 

• reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and in line with the principles set out in 
this policy. 

 
Licensing Authority Functions 
 

1.5 Under the Act, we must: 
 

• be responsible for licensing premises where gambling activities are to take place by issuing 
premises licences; 

• issue provisional statements; 
• regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes that want to offer certain gaming 

activities by issuing club gaming permits or club machine permits (or both); 
• issue club machine permits to commercial clubs; 
• grant permits for certain lower-stake gaming machines at family entertainment centres that are 

not licensed to sell alcohol; 
• receive notices from premises that are licensed to sell alcohol (under the Licensing 

Act 2003) that they want to use one or two gaming machines; 
• issue gaming machine permits for premises that are licensed to sell or supply alcohol for people 

to drink on the licensed premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than two 
machines; 

• register small-society lotteries below set limits; 
• issue prize gaming permits; 
• receive and approve temporary-use notices; 
• receive occasional-use notices; 
• provide information to the Gambling Commission about the licences we have issued 

(see the section 10 below); and 
• maintain registers of the permits and licences that we issue. 

 
 

2 The Borough 
 
2.1 Hammersmith & Fulham is one of 13 inner-London boroughs.  It is situated in the west of central 

London, on the transport routes between the city and Heathrow airport. 
 
2.2 It is a long, narrow borough, running north to south with a river border at its south and south-west 

side.  It is bordered by six London boroughs – Brent to the north, Kensington and Chelsea to the 
east, Wandsworth and Richmond-upon-Thames to the south, and Ealing and Hounslow to the 
west.  Not including the City of London, it is the third smallest London borough in terms of area, 
covering 1,640 hectares.  It has three town centres – Shepherd’s Bush, Hammersmith and Fulham. 

 
2.3 Hammersmith & Fulham is made up of 16 electoral wards.  These range in size from 55 hectares 

to 344 hectares. 
 
2.4 When producing this statement we have considered: 

 
 • local crime prevention; 
 • the licensing policy; 
 • our planning, transport, tourism and cultural strategies; and 
 • our equal opportunities policy; and. 

Page 31



 

6 
 

• our public health duties. 
 

2.5 2.5 We consulted the following people before finalising and publishing this statement. 
 

• The police 
• Environmental Health 
• Trading Standards 
• Social Inclusion Board 
• Safeguarding Adults Executive Board (SAEB) 
 
• Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) 
• Trade associations 
• Residents’ associations 
• Businesses 
• Fire authority 
• Ward Councillors 
• Neighbouring authorities 
• Chamber of Commerce 
• Substance misuse and offender care team 
• The Director of Public Health 
• Crime and disorder reduction partnership 
• Trade unions 
• Other relevant people who could be affected by this policy 

 
2.6 This statement of principles will not stop any eligible person, who is eligible,  from making an 

application, commenting on an application, or applying for a review of a licence, as we will consider 
each one individually and according to the Gambling Act 2005 (except for casinos, see section 17 
below). 

 
 

3 General principles 
 
3.1 The Act and any associated regulations will apply to premises licences as well as specific 

conditions set out in regulations.  We can exclude some conditions and attach others, where we 
consider it to be appropriate. 

 
3.2 We are aware that the Gambling Commission’s guidance for local authorities says that moral 

objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for premises licences, and also 
that a licensing authority must not consider unmet demand when deciding an application.  However, 
to meet the licensing objectives, we will have to consider whether a particular premises is 
appropriate for the intended activity. 

 
Multiple licences and separation of different premises 

 
3.3 Under the Act, ‘premises’ includes ‘any place’.  A single premises cannot have different premises 

licences operating at different times.  However, it is possible for a single building to have more 
than one premises licence, as long as they are for different parts of the building and the different 
parts of the building can reasonably be considered as different premises.  Whether different parts 
of a building can properly be considered as separate premises will always be a question of fact in 

Page 32



 

7 
 

the circumstances.  However, the Gambling Commission does not consider areas of a building that 
are artificially or temporarily separate to be different premises. 

 
3.4 If more than one application is received for premises licences in a single building, we will make a 

decision on whether the proposed premises are genuinely separate to the extent that they merit 
their own licence and are not an artificially created part of what is readily identifiable as a single 
and separate unit.  A decision of this nature will be taken by the licensing sub-committee.  When 
determining whether two or more proposed premises are separate, we will take a number of factors 
into account.  Depending on the specific circumstances of the case these may include: 

 
• Do the premises have different postal addresses? 
• Is a separate registration for business rates in place at the premises? 
• Are the neighbouring premises owned by the same person or not? 
• Can each set of premises be accessed by different entrances from the street or a public 

passageway? 
• Can the premises be accessed only from another gambling premises? 
• How are the premises separated?  Are any partitions fixed, of full height and transparent in any 

part? 
 

Where the licensing authority determines that more than one premises licences can be granted 
within a single building, then specific measures may be required to be included as conditions on 
the licences.  Such measures may include: 

 
• the supervision of entrances 
• segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas, which may include the type and position of 

partitions and/or the supervision of the premises and gaming machines 
 
3.5 We pay particular attention to the Gambling Commission’s guidance for local authorities, which 

states the following: 
 
 

7.320 Licensing authorities should take particular care in considering applications for multiple 
premises licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of a building used for other 
(non-gambling) purposes. In particular, they should be aware of the following:  

 
• the third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling. In practice this means not only preventing them from taking part in gambling, but 
also prevents them from being in close proximity to gambling. Therefore, premises should be 
configured so that children are not invited to participate in, have accidental access to or closely 
observe gambling where they are prohibited from participating.  

 
• entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises licences 
should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different premises is not 
compromised and people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area. In this context it should normally 
be possible to access the premises without going through another licensed premises or 
premises with a permit 

  
• customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises licence.  

Page 33



 

8 
 

Licensing authorities should take particular care in considering applications for multiple premises licences for 
a building and those relating to a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. 
In particular, they should be aware of the following:  

 
the third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed or exploited by gambling and 

premises should be configured so that children are prohibited from participating in gambling, such 
that they are not invited to participate in, have accidental access to, or closely observe gambling  

 
entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises licences should be separate 

and identifiable so that the separation of different premises is not compromised and people do not 
‘drift’ into a gambling area. In this context it should normally be possible to access the premises 
without going through another licensed premises or premises with a permit  

 
customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises licence.  

 
 

3.6 You cannot get a full premises licence until the premises in which you are going to offer the 
gambling is built.  The Gambling Commission has advised that ’the premises’ means the premises 
in which gambling may now take place.  So a licence to use premises for gambling will only be 
issued in relation to premises that are ready to be used for gambling.  The Gambling Commission 
emphasises that making sure the building is complete means that the authority can, if necessary, 
inspect it fully, as can other responsible authorities with inspection rights. 

 

Plans 

 
3.7 The Licensing Authority will expect compliance with the Gambling Act 2005 (Premises Licences and 

Provisional Statements) Regulation 2007 (as amended) in relation to the submission of plans with 
applications. 
 
The Regulations state that plans shall contain the following information: 

 
 

• the extent of the boundary or perimeter of the premises  

• where the premises include, or consist of, one or more buildings, the location of any external 
or internal walls of each such building  

• where the premises form part of a building, the location of any external or internal walls of 
the building which are included in the premises  

• where the premises are a vessel or a part of a vessel, the location of any part of the sides of 
the vessel, and of any internal walls of the vessel, which are included in the premises  

• the location of each point of entry to and exit from the premises, including in each case a 
description of the place from which entry is made or to which the exit leads.  

 
3.8 In line with the Gambling Commission’s guidance for local authorities, we will pay particular 

attention to protecting children and vulnerable people from being harmed or exploited by gambling, 
as well as issues of crime and disorder.  This would include incidents, or suspected incidents, of 
child sexual exploitation.  We welcome the ABB Code for Responsible Gambling and Player 
Protection, and recommend GambleAware and Gamcare certification to gambling operators in this 
borough.  We expect all operators of gambling premises to fully comply with the Gambling 

Page 34



 

9 
 

Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), which includes Social 
Responsibility Codes in relation to access for children into Gambling premises and their policies and 
procedures designed to prevent underage gambling, and how they monitor the effectiveness of 
these.  The Social Responsibility Codes can be found on the Gambling Commission website. 

 
Planning Considerations 

 
3.9 If any policy is developed which affects where gambling premises can be located, we will update this 

statement.  However, any such policy will not prevent anyone from making an application and we 
will consider each application individually, except for an application for a casino (see section 17 
below).  You will have to show how any possible concerns can be overcome. 

 
3.10 We will try to avoid repeating any work already carried out under other systems where possible, 

including planning.  We will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded 
planning permission or building regulations approval.  However, we will carefully consider any 
concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by licensees due to planning restrictions. 

 
3.11 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: 

‘7.586 In determining applications, the licensing authority should not take into consideration 
matters that are not related to gambling and the licensing objectives. One example would be 
the likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulations approval 
for their proposal...’ 
 

 

‘7.653 - When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the licensing 
authority should not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the 
necessary planning or building consents. Nor should fire or health and safety risks be taken 
into account. Those matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control, building and 
other regulations, and must not form part of the consideration for the premises licence. S.210 
of the Act prevents licensing authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by 
the applicant obtaining planning or building consent when considering a premises licence 
application. Equally, the grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent 
any action that may be appropriate under the law relating to planning or building. 

 
This Licensing Authority places due regard on these extracts from the Guidance (September 2015 
Edition - Parts 17, 18 and 19 updated in September 2016March 2015 version).  The Licensing 
Authority is aware that in May 2015 the Government introduced additional planning controls in 
relation to betting offices, removing them from Class D2 use to a ‘sui generis’ use.  This means that 
Betting Shops have been taken out of the planning ‘use’ classes and will need to receive planning 
approval. This has enabled Planning Authorities to exercise stricter controls over these uses, and 
this Authority would expect applicants for new Gambling Premises Licences to have been granted 
permission to use prospective premises for the proposed operation subject of the licence 
application. 

 
 

4 Premises Licences 
 
4.1 Any person or business that wishes to offer gambling for which an operating licence from the 

Gambling Commission is required, and which is premises based, must apply to the Licensing 

Page 35



 

10 
 

Authority for a premises licence. 
 
4.2 For each premises type the Act makes it clear that the primary activity should be that described 

in the premises licence type.  It is the Council’s opinion that all gambling premises, whether subject 
to an application or currently licensed, must operate primarily in the use of the licence type applied 
for or issued. 

 
4.3 A premises licence issued by the Licensing Authority will be subject to mandatory and/or default 

conditions and conditions imposed by the Council.  The Council may consider that conditions, other 
than the mandatory or default conditions, are necessary to ensure that the premises operate in a 
manner that is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives, the Commission’s Ccodes of 
Ppractice and/or local authority guidance, and this Statement of Gambling Policy. 

 
4.4 The primary activity of each premises licence type is specified on the premises licence when it is 

issued.  Section 150 of the Act authorises the provision of gambling facilities for the following types 
of premises licences: 

 
• casino premises 
• bingo premises 
• betting premises, including tracks and premises used by betting intermediaries 
• adult gaming centre premises (for category C and D machines) 
• family entertainment centre premises (for category C and D machines) (note that, separate 

to this category, the licensing authority may issue family entertainment centre gaming 
machine permits, which authorise the use of category D machines only). 

 
(For definitions of categories of gaming machines, see the glossary at section 25 of this policy) 

 
4.5 In betting premises the primary activity will be betting, with gaming machines as an ancillary offer 

on the premises.  The Commission has provided information relating to the primary gambling 
activity in both the Local Authority Guidance and Section 16 of The Gambling Commission’s Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice which was published in April 2015.  The Gambling Commission’s 
Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) This supplement sets out the requirements on 
the operator to ensure that their premises operate within the terms of the Act and the relevant 
conditions.  It should be noted that the Act does not permit a premises to be licensed for more than 
one gambling activity. 

 
4.6 The Council will make decisions having regard to the Commission’s view on primary gambling 

activity and will expect applicants to operate premises in line with the Commission’s Guidance and 
conditions on their operator’s licence.  The Council will monitor the operation of premises and report 
any potential breach of operating licence conditions to the Commission.  Applications for new 
premises licences, or to vary an existing licence, will be expected to demonstrate that the premises 
are intended to be used for the primary gambling activity proposed.  For example, a betting premises 
licence application that only has 4 gaming machines but no betting counter or associated betting 
facilities shown on the proposed plans, will not be considered as offering the primary gambling 
activity in accordance with that indicated on the application. 

 
 

5 Conditions 
 
5.1 Any conditions attached to licences will be lawful and will be: 

Page 36



 

11 
 

 
• relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility; 
• directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 
• fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and 
• reasonable in all other respects. 

 
5.2 Certain matters which are set out in the Act may not be the subject of conditions.  These are : 

 
• conditions which make it impossible to comply with an operating licence, 
• conditions as to gaming machines that contradict the provisions in the Act, 
• conditions making activities, premises or parts of them, operate as a membership club, 
• conditions on fees, winnings, stakes or prizes. 

 

5.3 We will make decisions on individual conditions, on a case-by-case basis, although there will be a 
number of measures we will consider using if necessary, such as using supervisors, appropriate 
signs for adult-only areas and so on.  We will also expect you to offer suggestions as to how you 
will meet the licensing objectives effectively. 

 
5.4 We will also consider specific measures which may be needed for buildings which have more than 

one premises licence.  These may include supervising entrances, separating gambling from non-
gambling areas used by children, and supervising gaming machines in non-adult gambling 
premises to achieve the licensing objectives. 

 
5.5 Noise, nuisance and disturbance are often linked to late night licensed premises and can often be 

linked, or be a precursor to, disorder.  Although we recognise that nuisance is not mentioned as a 
Licensing Objective, the fact that it can be closely related to disorder can be a cause for concern 
when dealing with late night gambling premises applications and, in particular, applications to 
operate gambling premises late at night. 

 
5.6 In appropriate circumstances, and where representations have been received, and appropriate, 

relevant evidence is provided, this Authority will consider the imposition of conditions such as: 
 

 Door and Windows 

•           All external doors and windows shall be kept closed [at all times] [after [TIME]]. 

•           External doors shall be fitted with a self-closing device. 

•           External doors fitted with a self-closing device shall not be propped open at any time. 

Signs and Announcements 

•           Signs shall be prominently displayed at the exits from the premises reminding patrons 

there are residents living nearby and instructing them to respect the neighbours and to 

leave the premises promptly and quietly. 

•           When a microphone is available e.g. in bingo gambling premises, an announcement will 

be made at the end of gambling hours reminding customers that the premises are in a 

residential area and asking them to leave the premises promptly and quietly. 

Page 37



 

12 
 

Speakers 

•           There shall be no stereo / television or other audio equipment speakers mounted in the 

ceiling of the premises to prevent vibration transmission of sound energy to adjoining 

properties.  

•           All stereo / television, or other audio equipment, or free-standing / portable speakers shall 

be mounted on anti-vibration mountings to prevent vibration transmission of sound energy to 

adjoining properties. 

5.7 Such conditions will only be considered where there is evidence to suggest that the licensing 

objective of preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 

crime or disorder or being used to support crime, is not being promoted for a specific premises and 

the imposition of such conditions are necessary to promote this licensing objective. 

 
5.8 Local Area Profile – a map of this Local Authority’s area has been attached as a separate document 

to this policy, at as Annex 3. This document may be reviewed and updated from time to time.  The 
map contains the location of all schools, hostels and homes for vulnerable people, hotspots of anti-
social behaviour (ASB), and centres for people with gambling addictions.  This Authority will pay 
particular attention to applications for the new grant of, or variations to existing, premises licences 
where those premises lie within areas with a concentration of ASB, hostels/homes for vulnerable 
people and centres for people with a gambling addiction.  The Authority will also pay particular 
attention to areas where children, young people and families congregate, for example in the vicinity 
of schools.  This map will be regularly updated and will be publicly available on the Hammersmith 
and Fulham Council website. 

 
5.9 Where paragraph 5.8 applies this Authority will expect applicants to fully explain in their applications 

how their proposal will not exacerbate any problems to individuals living in the vicinity, or exacerbate 
any ASB problems within the vicinity generally.  Applicants will be expected to tailor their application 
and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate any risks. They should have the 
appropriate numbers of trained staff, and propose licence conditions, to cater for the local area in 
which they propose to run their business.  This Authority will consider the implementation of afully 
supports the ‘Bet Watch’ scheme introduced in 2018 within the borough.  If and when such a scheme 
is introduced tTheis Authority would expects operators of relevant premises to actively participate 
in the scheme in order to demonstrate that their commitment to protecting vulnerable people from 
gambling harm. 

 
Local Risk Assessments 
 

5.10 Applicants should also be aware of areas with concentrations of hostels and other types of 
accommodation for vulnerable people.  Where they propose to make an application for the new 
grant of a premises licence, or a variation to an existing licence, in such areas they should explain 
fully in their Local Risk Assessment (LRA) how they will mitigate any risks of operating gambling 
premises in close proximity to concentrations of housing for vulnerable people or proximity to 
churches, mosques, temples or any other place of worship. Religious premises and places of 
worship are often focal points for a percentage of vulnerable members of the local community, 
including the homeless community and youth population and have therefore been included in this 
policy, rather than for any moral or ethical reasons . 

Page 38



 

13 
 

 
5.11 Some publicly available sources of information to assist in operators completing a Local Area Risk 

Assessment (LRA)Profile include:  

(a) the Crime Mapping website;  

(b) Neighbourhood Statistics websites;  

(c) websites or publications by local responsible authorities;  

(d) websites or publications by local voluntary schemes and initiatives; and  

(e) on-line mapping tools.  
 
(f) Information leaflets and helpline numbers, from organisations such as GamCare and 

GambleAware, for customers who may have a gambling addiction.  
 

5.12 This Authority will expect applicants for the new grant of, or variation to an existing, licence to  also 
submit their LRA to comply with the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) -  Social 
Responsibility (SR) code 10.1.1 and Ordinary code provision 10.1.2 .  Additional licence conditions 
will only be considered where there is evidence that gambling premises in a particular area will 
exacerbate the risk of harm to vulnerable, and young, people, and where there is evidence that they 
are necessary in order to promote the licensing objectives.  There is no presumption that because 
a gambling premises is proposed to be located in a specific location that there will be a need for 
additional licence conditions, or that an individual application will be rejected.  We strongly 
recommend that operators of licensed premises keep their Local Risk Assessments on the individual 
licensed premises and ensure that it is available for inspection.. 

 
The LCCP also states that a LRA must also be submitted when changes in the local environment 
or the premises warrant a LRA to be conducted again. This may be where: 
 
• Any substantial building development or conversion of existing premises in the local area which 

may increase the number of vulnerable persons in the area.  
• Educational facilities increase in the local area. This may occur as a result of the construction of 

a new school/college or where a significant change is made to an existing establishment.  
• Any vulnerable group is identified by the Licensing Authority or venues relating to those 

vulnerable groups are opened in proximity to gambling premises (e.g. additional homeless 
hostels or gambling or mental health care/ support facilities are opened in the local area).  

 
The Authority will expect the local risk assessment to consider: 
  
• the location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, leisure/community centres 

and other areas where children and young people will congregate such as youth clubs, parks, 
bus stops, cafés, shops, entertainment venues such as cinemas, bowling allies and any other 
place where children are attracted. 

• the demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups  
• whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime and/or disorder, including 

areas that are prone to youths participating in antisocial behaviour, e.g. graffiti/tagging or 
underage drinking.  

• how vulnerable people, including people with gambling dependencies are protected. 
• assessing staffing levels when a local college closes and the students begin to vacate the 

grounds. 
• age verification policies such as ‘Challenge 25’. 

Page 39



 

14 
 

• How joining schemes such as Betwatch could help reduce crime and antisocial behavior. 
• line of sight from the counter to gambling machines. 
• information held regarding self-exclusions and incidences of underage gambling. 
• gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit 

payments  
• proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable people such as hospitals, 

residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor’s surgeries, council housing offices, addiction 
clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug dependant people may congregate.  

 
5.13 Appropriate licence conditions may be as follows: 

 
• All gaming machines are in an area of the premises which is separated from the rest of the 

premises by a physical barrier which prevents people from entering other than through a specific 
entrance, 

• Only adults are allowed into the area where these machines are located, 
• Access to the area where the machines are located, is supervised, 
• The area where these machines are located must be arranged so that it can be monitored 

by the staff or the licence holder, 
• Recognised proof-of-age schemes must be in place, 
• Notices should be clearly displayed showing that people under 18 are not allowed at the entrance 

to, and inside any of, these areas. 
• The entrance and gaming machines must be in appropriate places, 
• Closed-circuit television must be provided, 
• Door supervisors must be provided, 
• There must be specific opening hours, 
• There must be self-barring schemes.  This means that problem gamblers can ask for their 

casual membership to be suspended and ask to be denied entry so they can deal with their 
addiction, 

• Information leaflets and helpline numbers for organisations such as Gamcare and GambleAware 
must be provided. 

 
5.14 The licensing authority will ensure that where category C or above machines are on offer in premises 

to which children are admitted the following conditions should apply: 
 

• remainder of the premises i s  d i v i d e d  by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
any views of machines in category C or above and any access to them other than through a 
designated entrance; 

• only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 
• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 
• the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by the staff 

or the licence holder; and at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 

 
5.15 The licensing authority expects all premises licence applications to specify opening hours. 

Particular attention will be paid to the opening hours for Adult Gaming Centres and Family 
Entertainment Centres which do not have opening hours specified as part of their mandatory 
conditions. 

 
5.16 These considerations will also apply to premises where more than one premises licence is needed. 

Page 40



 

15 
 

 
Door Supervisors 

 
5.17 We may consider whether door supervisors are needed to meet the licensing objectives of 

protecting children and vulnerable people from being harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in 
terms of preventing premises becoming a source of crime.  In particular, we would expect the appropriate 
numbers of door supervisors to be employed at premises where alcohol is sold and operate beyond 11pm. We 
may feel it necessary to add specific conditions in relation to door supervisors, particularly where 
the door supervisors do not have to be registered with the SIA.  These conditions may include: 

 
• the need to be easily identifiable, with the person’s name badge clearly on display; 

and 
• the need to have received specific training related to the task being performed. 

 
5.18 This recognises the work door supervisors carry out, which includes searching individuals, dealing 

with potentially aggressive people, where there are concerns about child sexual exploitation and so 
on. 

 
5.19 For premises other than casinos and bingo premises, operators and licensing authorities may 

decide that entrances and machines should be supervised in particular cases, but they will need to 
decide whether these supervisors need to be licensed by the SIA or not.  It will not be automatically 
assumed that they need to be. 

 
5.20 There is no evidence that, generally, betting offices need door supervisors to protect the public.  The 

authority will only orderrequire a betting shop to appoint a door supervisor if there is clear evidence 
that the premises cannot be properly supervised from the counter. 

 

 

6 Responsible authorities 
 

6.1 The responsible authorities as defined by the Act are listed in the glossary under section 25 of this 
policy. 

 
6.2 Contact details of all the responsible authorities under the Act can be obtained from our website 

at www.lbhf.gov.uk 
 
6.3 We must set out the principles we will apply when naming an organisation which will be able to 

advise us on protecting children from harm.  The principles are that the organisation must be: 
 

• responsible for an area covering the whole of the licensing authority’s area; and 
• be answerable to elected people, rather than any group with an interest in gambling. 

 
6.4 We appoint the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) for this purpose. 

 

7 Relevant representations and interested parties 
 
7.1 Interested parties can comment on licence applications, or apply for a review of an existing 

licence.  Interested parties are defined in section 158 of the Act as follows: ‘For the purposes of this 
part a person is an interested party in relation to an application for or in respect of a premises licence 

Page 41

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/


 

16 
 

if, in the opinion of the licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the application is 
made, the person: 

 
• lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities; 
• has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities; or 
• represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b).’ 

 
7.2 The Gambling Commission has recommended that we make it clear that interested parties 

include trade associations and trade unions, and residents’ and tenants’ associations (Gambling 
Commission guidance for local authorities 8.16 and 8.177).  However, we will not generally view 
these organisations as interested parties unless they have a member who can be classed as an 
interested person under the terms of the Act (that is, lives close enough to the premises or has 
business interests that might be affected by the activities being applied for). 

 
7.3 Interested parties can be people who are democratically elected such as Councillors and MPs.  We 

will not need specific evidence of them being asked to represent an interested person as long as 
the Councillor or MP represents the ward that is likely to be affected.  Other than these, however, 
we will generally need written evidence, e.g a letter, that a person or organisation ‘represents’ 
someone who either lives close enough to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities or has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities. 

 
7.4 If people want to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their views, they should be careful 

that the Councillors are not part of the licensing committee dealing with the licence application.  
Councillors may be restricted in representing constituents under the members’ code of conduct in 
cases where they have a particular interest.  Please contact us if there are any doubts. 

 
7.5 We will decide each case individually.  We will not apply a strict rule when making decisions.  We 

will consider the examples of considerations provided in thePart 8 of the Gambling Commission’s 
guidance for local authorities (September 2015 Edition - Parts 17, 18 and 19 updated in September 
2016) should we need any clarity regarding the validity of any  particular representations. at 
paragraphs 8.14 and 8.15 of that guidance. 

 
7.6 Representations will not be accepted if they do not relate to one or more of the three licensing 

objectives (as set out in section 1.3 of this policy). ‘Frivolous’ or ‘vexatious’ representations will not 
be accepted as valid.  

 
7.7 Environmental issues such as noise or light pollution cannot be considered under the Act as they do 

not relate to the licensing objectives.  Issues of this type can be considered under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and should be referred to the Council’s Noise and Nuisance 
team on: 0208 753 1081 or: environmentalprotection@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

8 Reviews 
 
8.1 An interested party or a responsible authority (see the glossary at section 22 for a list of relevant 

authorities) may apply to the Council to review a premises licence.  Such reviews can be made in 

relation to, amongst other things; 

, i )  if there are repeated incidents of crime and disorder associated with the premises, or the 

gambling activity, which the premises operator has failed to adequately address, 

Page 42

mailto:environmentalprotection@lbhf.gov.uk


 

17 
 

 ii) where incidents that have adversely effected one or more licensing objectives have occurred 

at a premises that could have been prevented if advice and guidance from a responsible authority 

had been taken account of,  

iii) if the premises due to the activities being undertaken is either attracting children or people 

likely to be involved in crime and disorder,.e.g. child sexual exploitation, due to the activities being 

undertaken.   

 

An application to review a premises licence may be made requesting that conditions relating to age 

verification policies are applied to the licence where an underage test purchase has been made. 

 
8.2 As a review of a premises licence can lead to its revocation, the Council will consider what informal 

actions has been undertaken by the applicant, or the licence holder, prior to the review application 
being made.  The Council accepts that an application for review may be appropriate without informal 
measures first being requested by an applicant, but will actively encourage that appropriate 
alternative forms of action have beening considered prior to review applications being made. 

 
8.3 Our decision will be based on whether the request for the review: 

 
• raises an issue relevant related to any relevant code of practice, any relevant guidance 

issued by the Gambling Commission, the licensing objectives or this statement; 
• is frivolous or vexatious; 
• could possibly lead to a decision to alter, revoke (withdraw) or suspend the licence; or 
• raises grounds that are substantially the same as, or different from, grounds within an earlier 

request for a review or from representations made in relation to the application for the premises 
licence. 

 
8.4 We can also review a licence for any reason we consider to be appropriate under the law. 

 
9 Enforcement 

 
9.1 We are committed to the Regulators’  Code in terms of reducing regulatory burdens and 

supporting compliant business growth through the development of an open and constructive 
relationship between us and those we regulate.  Our commitment extends to aiming to design 
our service and policies in a manner that best suits the needs of business, by complying with 
the principles based framework for regulatory delivery within the Regulators’ Code. We will 
ensure that any enforcement action complies with the ‘Regulators Code’ and, to support or enable 
economic growth for compliant businesses, we will endeavour to: 

 
• understand and minimise negative economic impacts of our regulatory activities; 
• minimise the costs of compliance for those we regulate; 
• improve confidence in compliance for those we regulate, by providing greater certainty; and 
• choose proportionate, transparent and effective approaches to encourage and promote 

compliance 
 

 
We will act in accordance with our Enforcement Policy.  Bearing in mind the principle of 
transparency, our Enforcement Policy is available on our website. 

Page 43



 

18 
 

 

9.2 We will also follow a risk-based inspection program. In accordance with the Gambling Commission's 
guidance and the ‘Regulators Code’ we will provide the criteria we will use for this, on request, or 
provide the information on our website. In accordance with the Regulators Code only those premises 
identified as being ‘high risk’ premises will be routinely inspected. Officers will only visit premises 
where there is a reason to do so (e.g. as part of a complaint investigation).   . 

 
9.3 Once premises have been licensed it is essential that they are monitored to make sure that they 

are run in accordance with their operating schedules and with any licence conditions.  It will also be 
important to monitor the borough for unlicensed premises. 

 
9.4 The main enforcement role for us in terms of the Act will be to make sure that premises are used 

in accordance with the licences and other permissions which we authorise.  The Gambling 
Commission will be the enforcement body for the operating and personal licences.  The Gambling 
Commission will also deal with concerns about the manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines. 

 
9.5 We will investigate complaints about licensed premises in relation to the licensing objectives or 

offences under the Act. If it is not appropriate for you to raise the complaint directly with the licence 

holder or business concerned to try and find a solution, please contact us for advice or information. 

There may be circumstances where the premises may be operating in a way that could result in 

enforcement action, e.g. a complaint in relation to criminal activities or that it is being used by children.  

In these circumstances we would recommend that you provide us with this information directly rather 

than speaking with the licence holder or business concerned. We can then refer the information to 

the appropriate authority for further investigation or for information.   

9.6 This Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises within its 

area. In order to ensure compliance issues are recognised and resolved at the earliest stage, the 

Licensing Authority will contact the Primary Authority for the business. Where there is no Primary 

Authority Partnership in place, operators are requested to give the Authority a single named point of 

contact, who should be a senior individual, and whom the Authority will contact first should any 

compliance queries or issues arise. 

 

10 Exchanging information 
 
10.1 We will exchange information in accordance with the Act and the Data Protection Act 
1998.legislation. 

 
10.2 We will also consider any guidance issued by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 

Strategy (BEIS) , Better Regulation Delivery Office (BRDO) or the Gambling Commission to local 

authorities on this matter, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under 
the powers provided in the Act. 

 
10.3 When the law allows, the Licensing Authority will agree secure mechanisms to share information 

with other regulators about gambling premises, to help target resources and activities and minimise 
duplication.  

Page 44



 

19 
 

 
11 Provisional statements 

 
11.1 We will decide whether premises can be considered for a premises licence.  The guidance issued 

by the Gambling Commission advises that the building should be complete so that the authority 
could, if necessary, carry out a full inspection. 

 
11.2 We cannot consider any more representations from relevant authorities or interested parties 

after we have issued a provisional statement, unless they concern matters which could not have 
been dealt with at the provisional statement stage, or they reflect a change in circumstances.  
We may also refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms different to those attached to the 
provisional statement) if the matter: 

• could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence stage; or 
• reflects a change in the operator’s circumstances. 

 
 

12 Temporary-use notices 
 
12.1 These allow premises to be used for gambling where there is no premises licence but where a 

gambling operator wants to use the premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  
Premises that might be suitable for a temporary-use notice would include hotels, conference centres 
and sporting venues. 

 
12.2 A temporary-use notice may only be granted to a person or company holding a relevant operating 

licence. For example, the holder of a betting operating licence could apply to provide betting facilities 
at a snooker tournament. 

 
12.3 The Secretary of State will list the gambling activities that may be covered by a temporary-use 

notice, as well as activities that may not be and activities that may not be combined with any other. 
 

13 Occasional-use notices 
 
13.1 Where there is betting on a track on eight days or less in a calendar year, betting may be allowed 

under an occasional-use notice without the need for a full premises licence. 
 
13.2 We have limited power in relation to these notices other than making sure that betting is not allowed 

for more than eight days in a calendar year. 
 
 

14 Consultation 
 

 

14.1 We will expect you to advertise the application in line with the regulations made under the Act.   
An applicant for the grant or variation of a licence, or for a provisional statement is required to 
advertise the application by means of: 

• a notice displayed at the premises for 28 consecutive days starting on the day the 
application is made to the licensing authority, and 

• publication of the notice of application in a local newspaper within 10 working days of 
submitting the application to the licensing authority. 

Page 45



 

20 
 

The notices must be in the prescribed form. 

The consultation period for applications runs for 28 days starting the day the application is made 
to the licensing authority. 

14.2 We will carry out a consultation process in line with the regulations made under the Act.  In 
exceptional circumstances we may consider it appropriate to carry out a more thorough public 
consultation.  We will publicise details of applications received. 

 
 

15 Adult gaming centres (AGCs), family entertainment centres (FECs) licensed 
to sell alcohol, bingo premises, betting premises. 

 
15.1 When deciding applications for a premises licence for these premises, we will consider the need 

to protect children and vulnerable people from harm or being exploited by gambling.  We will expect 
you to satisfy us that there will be enough measures in place to meet this licensing objective.  
Appropriate measures could include training for staff on how to deal with suspected truanting school 
children on the premises or how to recognise signs of potential child sexual exploitation. 

 

15.2 We will expect you to offer your own measures to meet the licensing objectives. Appropriate 
measures and licence conditions may include the ones listed in section 5 and Annex 2 to of this 
policy. 

 
15.3 We will consider the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission and will take into account 

the size, suitability, layout of the premises and, if relevant, the number of counters available for 
face-to-face transaction. 

 

 
15.4  
Providing the Licensing Authority with details of where a child or young person repeatedly attempts to 

gamble on their premises may provide the Licensing Authority with an opportunity to consider 
safeguarding concerns. The Licensing Authority continues to raise awareness in cooperation with 
the Metropolitan Police of child sexual exploitation, via Operation Makesafe, amongst the business 
community. To date, efforts have been focussed on providing awareness to hotels, taxi companies 
and licensed premises. 

 
15.5 Larger operators are responsible for conducting/taking part in underage testing, results of which are 

shared with the Gambling Commission. Operators are encouraged to also make the results available 
to licensing authorities, as far as is practicable. 

 

16 Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) not licensed to sell alcohol 
 
16.1 If an operator does not hold a premises licence but wants to provide gaming machines he may apply 

to us, the licensing authority, for this permit.  The person applying must show that the premises will 
be completely or mainly used for gaming machines (section 238 of the Act). 

 
16.2 Unlicensed FECs will be able to offer only category-D machines with a gaming machine permit.  

There can be any number of category-D machines with such a permit (depending on other 
considerations such as fire regulations and health and safety, which will not be issues for the 
licensing authority under the Act).  We cannot issue permits for vessels or vehicles. 

Page 46



 

21 
 

 
16.3 As part of any Unlicensed Family Entertainment permit application, the Council will require applicants 

to demonstrate: 
 

• a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible 
in unlicensed FECs; 

• that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); 
and 

• that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes 
(para 24.7 of the Act) 

 
16.4 The Council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in place to 

protect children and vulnerable people from harm (Social Responsibility Code 3).  Harm in this 
context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection and potential 
chi ld sexual exploi tat ion considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will 
each be considered on their merits. However, they may include: 

 
• measures/training for staff concerning suspected truant school children on the premises; 
• measures/training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised, very young children being 

on the premises; 
• measures/training covering how staff would deal with children causing perceived problems 

on or around the premises;. 
• mMeasures/training covering how staff would identify the signs and symptoms of persons 

engaged in the illegal use, or under the influence, of controlled drugs and/or alcohol. 
 

 

17 Casinos 
 

 

17.1 We have a ‘no casino’ resolution in this borough.  
 
17.2 The ‘no casino’ resolution came into effect on the same date as the original Statement of Gambling 

policy.  We will review this resolution at least every three years, and can withdraw it at any time. 
 

17.3 This means that we will not consider any applications for a premises licence for a casino.  We will 
return any applications we receive with a notice that a ‘no casino’ resolution is in place. 

 

 

18 Tracks 
 
18.1 We are aware that tracks may need more than one premises licence and we will especially 

consider the effect on the third licensing objective (that is, protecting children and vulnerable people 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling). 

 
18.2 We would expect you to show that suitable measures are in place to make sure that children 

do not have access to adult-only gaming facilities.  Appropriate measures and licence conditions 
may include the ones listed in section 5 and Annex 2 of this policy. 

 
18.3 We will expect you to have plans that explain very clearly what you want authorisation for under the 

track betting premises licence and which, if any, other areas need a separate application for a 

Page 47



 

22 
 

different type of premises licence. 
 

 

19 Travelling fairs 
 
19.1 We will firstly consider whether you fall within the legal definition of a travelling fair. 

 
19.2 It will fall to this Licensing Authority to decide whether, where category D machines and/or equal 

chance prize gaming without a permit is are to be made available for use at travelling fairs, the 
statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement 
at the fair is met. 

 
19.3 Fairs cannot be held on a particular piece of land for more than 27 days per calendar year, no matter 

whether it is the same or a different travelling fair using the land.  We will work with our neighbouring 
authorities to make sure that land which crosses administrative boundaries is monitored to ensure 
legal limits are not broken. 

 
 

20 Gaming machine permits for premises that sell alcohol 
 
20.1 Premises licensed to sell alcohol for people to drink on the premises are entitled to have two gaming 

machines, of categories C and/or D.  The licensee must provide notification, and we can remove 
this entitlement if: 

• the machines are not provided in line with the licensing objectives; 
• gambling has taken place on the premises that breaks a condition of section 282 of the Act 

(that is, written notice has not been provided to the licensing authority, a fee has not been paid 
and any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine has not been met); 

• the premises are mainly used for gambling; or 
• an offence under the Act has been committed on the premises. 

 
20.2 If a licensee wants to have more than two machines, they need to apply for a permit and we must 

consider that application based on the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission issued under section 25 of the Act, and any other relevant conditions. 

 
20.3 One of the licensing objectives is to protect children and vulnerable people from harm or being 

exploited by gambling.  We will expect you to show us that there will be enough measures to make 
sure that people under 18 do not have access to the adult-only gaming machines.  Appropriate 
measures and licence conditions may include the ones listed in section 5 above and Annex 2. 

 
20.4 Some alcohol-licensed premises may apply for a premises licence for areas of the premises 

which are not licensed for selling alcohol.  Any such application would most likely need to be 
made and dealt with as a premises licence for an adult gaming centre. 

 
20.5 We can decide to grant the application with a smaller number of machines or different category of 

machines than those applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. 
 
20.6 The holder of a permit must follow any code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission about 

where and how the machine must be used. 

Page 48



 

23 
 

 
 

21 Prize gaming permits 
 
21.1 This Authority has not adopted a statement of principles on permits under Schedule 14 paragraph 

8 (3) of the Act. 
 
21.2 Gaming is defined as prize gaming if the nature and size of the prize does not depend on the number 

of people playing or the amount paid for or raised by the gaming.  The operator decides the price 
before anyone starts to play on the machines. 

 
21.3 A prize gaming permit is a permit we issue to authorise gaming facilities with prizes on specific 

premises. 
 
21.4 An application for a permit can only be made by a person who uses or plans to use the relevant 

premises.  If the applicant is an individual, they must be aged 18 or over.  An application for a 
permit cannot be made if a premises licence or club gaming permit is already in existence for the 
same premises. 

The application must be made to the authority in whose area the premises are completely or partly 
situated. 

 
21.5 When making our decision on an application for this permit, we do not need to consider licensing 

objectives but must consider any Gambling Commission guidance. 
 
21.6 There are conditions in the Act which the permit holder must follow. These are: 

 
• the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations; 
• all chances to take part in the gaming must be offered on the premises on which the gaming is 

taking place and on one day, the game must be played and completed on the day the chances 
are offered and the result of the game must be made public in the premises on the day that it 
is played; 

• the prize for which the game is played must not be more than the amount set out in regulations 
(if a money prize), or the set value (if a non-monetary prize); and 

• taking part in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other gambling. 
 

22 Club gaming and club machine permits 
 
22.1 Members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes (but not commercial clubs) may apply for a club 

gaming permit or a club gaming machine permit. 
 
22.2 Gambling Commission guidance states: ‘Members clubs must have at least 25 members and be 

established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming 
is permitted by separate regulations.  It is anticipated that this will cover bridge and whist clubs, 
which will replicate the position under the Gaming Act 1968.  A members’ club must be 
permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and controlled by its members 
equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of the Royal British Legion and clubs with 
political affiliations’. 

 
22.3 We may only refuse an application if: 

Page 49



 

24 
 

 
• you do not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or miners’ welfare 

institute and so are not entitled to receive the type of permit which you have applied for; 
• your premises are used wholly or mainly by children or young people; 
• you have committed an offence under the Act or have broken the conditions of a permit 

while providing gaming facilities; 
• a permit held by you has been cancelled in the previous 10 years; or 
• an objection has been lodged by the Commissioner of Police. 

 
22.4 There are conditions attached to club gaming permits that no child uses a category-B or category-

C machine on the premises and that the holder follows any relevant code of practice about where 
and how gaming machines are used. 

 
 

23. Small Society Lotteries 
 

23.1 Under the Act, a lottery is unlawful unless it runs with an operating licence or is an exempt lottery. 
The Licensing Authority will register and administer small society lotteries (as defined). Promoting 
or facilitating a lottery will fall within 2 categories:  

 

• licensed lotteries (requiring an operating licence from the Gambling Commission); and  

• exempt lotteries (including small society lotteries registered by the Licensing Authority)  
 
23.2 The Licensing Authority recommends those seeking to run lotteries take their own legal advice. 

Guidance notes on small society lotteries, limits placed on them and information setting out financial 
limits can be found on our web-site or by contacting the Licensing Team.  Applicants for registration 
of small society lotteries must apply to the Licensing Authority in the area where their principal office 
is located.  

 
23.3 Lotteries will be regulated through; a licensing and registration scheme, conditions imposed on 

licences by the Gambling Commission, codes of practice and any guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission. In exercising its functions with regard to small society and exempt lotteries, the 
Licensing Authority will have due regard to the Gambling Commission’s guidance.  

 
The Licensing Authority will accept society lottery returns either manually but preferably 
electronically by email. 
 
 

24 Other Information 
 
24.1 Annual Licence fee – The Gambling Act 2005 requires every holder of a gambling licence to pay 

an annual fee to the Licensing Authority.  Failure to pay the annual fee may result in the revocation 
of the premises licence. 

 
24.2 Public Health considerations - Whilst there may be evidence that problem gamblers and their 

families are at risk of significant health and social problems such as mental illness, drug and alcohol 
misuse, relationship breakdown, criminal activity and financial difficulties, public health is not a 
licensing objective and therefore cannot be taken into account, when deciding on applications. The 
Licensing Authority will however continue to liaise with public health colleagues about new and 

Page 50



 

25 
 

variation applications within the borough, so that we can both continue to monitor any increase in 
access to gambling opportunities for those at risk of problem gambling, and work jointly to ensure 
that appropriate measures are put in place to minimise that risk and support those seeking help. 

 
24.3 Equalities - The Equality Act 2010 places a legal obligation on public authorities to have due regard 

to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; to advance equality 

of opportunity; and to foster good relations between persons with different protected characteristics. 

The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 

race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. Hammersmith and Fulham Council has an Equal 

Opportunities Policy and this revised Statement of Gambling Policy will be monitored for any 

adverse impact on the promotion of opportunities for all. 

This Statement of Gambling Policy recognises the Race Relations Act 1976. The Licensing 
Authority will have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, and to promote 
equality of opportunity and good relations between persons of different racial groups. 

 
24.4 Email Alerts - If you are interested in being notified about new applications you can register on our 

website for licensing application email alerts and receive regular updates about applications in your 
area. 

 
24.5 The Local Development FrameworkPlan - The Local Development FrameworkPlan sets out the 

Council’s planning policies for developing land, improving transport and protecting the environment. 
The Council is required to determine planning applications in accordance with the Local 
Development FrameworkPlan, the London Plan and any other material considerations. 

 
24.6 Review of the Statement of Gambling Policy - Under the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing 

Authority must carry out a review of its Statement of Gambling Policy every three years. In 

accordance with the Act, the Licensing Authority intends to carry out a further full review of its policy 

no later than 202118 and, prior to publishing the revised version, it intends to consult fully with those 

groups and individuals consulted on this version.  In addition, within the three year period the 

Licensing Authority will review its Statement of Gambling Policy whenever it feels that relevant 

issues have arisen - for example, if any further significant amendments are made to the Gambling 

Act 2005, Guidance or Codes of Practice. Any website links within this document that do not work 

will be updated or removed. Issues that arise concerning implementation of the policy will be 

recorded in an issue log and taken into account during any review.  

Page 51



 

26 
 

25 Glossary 
 
25.1 Adult gaming centre –  a  premises that may have up to four category-B machines (restricted 

to B3 and B4), any number of category-C machines and any number of category-D machines. 
 
25.2 Betting premises – a premises that may have up to four gaming machines of category-B (restricted 

to B2, B3 and B4), C or D. 
 
25.3 Bingo premises – a premises that may have up to four category-B machines (restricted to B3 

and B4), any number of category-C machines and any number of category-D machines. 
 
25.4 Categories of gambling – regulations will define the classes according to the maximum amount 

that can be paid for playing the machine and the maximum prize it can deliver. These are the current 
maximum stakes and prizes: 

 
These stakes and prizes are subject to change by Central Government 

Machine category  

Maximum 

stake (from 

January 2014)  

Maximum prize (from 

January 2014)  
Allowed premises  

A  Unlimited  Unlimited  Regional Casino  

B1 

£5  £10,000 (with the option of 

a maximum £20,000 linked 

progressive jackpot on a 

premises basis only)  

Large Casino, Small Casino, Pre-2005 

Act Casino and Regional Casinos  

B2 
£100  £500  Betting premises and tracks occupied by 

pool betting and all of the above  

B3 
£2  £500  Bingo premises, Adult gaming centre and 

all of the above  

B3A  
£2  £500  Members’ club or Miners’ welfare institute 

only  

B4 
£2  £400  Members' club or Miners’ welfare club, 

commercial club and all of the above.  

C 

£1  £100  Family entertainment centre (with 

Commission operating licence), 

Qualifying alcohol licensed premises 

(without additional gaming machine 

permit), Qualifying alcohol licensed 

Page 52

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Casinos/Operating-licence-holders/Key-information/Gaming-machines-on-casino-premises.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-B2-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-B3-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-B4-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-C-machines.aspx


 

27 
 

Machine category  

Maximum 

stake (from 

January 2014)  

Maximum prize (from 

January 2014)  
Allowed premises  

premises (with additional LA gaming 

machine permit) and all of the above.  

D money prize 

10p  £5  Travelling fairs, unlicensed (permit) 

Family entertainment centre and all of the 

above  

D non-money prize (other 

than crane grab machine) 

30p  £8  All of the above.  

D non-money prize (crane 

grab machine) 

£1  £50  All of the above.  

D combined money and 

non-money prize (other 

than coin pusher or penny 

falls machines) 

10p  £8 (of which no more than 

£5 may be a money prize)  

All of the above.  

D combined money and 

non-money prize (coin 

pusher or penny falls 

machine) 

20p  £20 (of which no more than 

£10 may be a money prize)  

All of the above.  

 
 
 
 
25.5 Club machines permit – a premises will need this permit if it is a members’ club, a 

commercial club or a miners’ welfare institute, with up to three machines of category-B (restricted 
to B4) C or D (that is, three machines in total). 

 
25.6 Family entertainment centre (with commission operating licence) – a premises that may have 

any number of category-C machines and any number of category-D machines.  Category-C 
machines must be in a separate area to make sure that they are only played by adults. 

 

25.7 Family entertainment centre (with gaming machine permit) – a premises that may have any 
number of category-D machines.  There is no power for the licensing authority to set a limit on 
the number of machines covered by the permit. 

 
25.8 Gaming machines – all machines on which people can gamble. 

 
25.9 Occasional-use notices – where there is betting on a track on eight days or less in a calendar 

Page 53

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Gaming-machines/About-gaming-machines/Gaming-machine-categories/Category-D-machines.aspx


 

28 
 

year, betting may be allowed under an ‘occasional-use notice’ without the need for a full premises 
licence. 

 
25.10 Primary Authority – Where a chain of businesses and a specific Local Authority agree, that 

Authority becomes the ‘Primary Authority’ for those businesses. The authority will ensure 

consistent regulation, improving the professionalism of front-line regulators, and giving businesses 

a say in their regulation.  Where another Local Authority has concerns about compliance issues, it 

must refer to the Primary Authority for directions. 

25.11 Provisional Statement - Where an applicant can make an application to the Licensing Authority 

in respect of premises that he: 

• Expects to be constructed 

• Expects to be altered 

• Expects to acquire a right to occupy. 

 
25.12 Regulators’ code – protects the public, the environment and groups such as consumers and 

workers through the 'business-friendly' enforcement of regulations.  It is a procedure that can 
be adopted by enforcement officers to help businesses and others meet their legal 
responsibilities without unnecessary expense while taking firm action, including prosecution 
where appropriate, against those who break the law or act irresponsibly. 

 
25.11 Remote gambling – gambling that takes place on the internet. 

 
25.13 Responsible authorities – these are public organisations that must be told about applications 

and that are entitled to make representations to the licensing authority in relation to applications 
for, and in relation to, a premises licence.  They are: 
 
• a licensing authority in whose area the premises is completely or partly situated; 
• the Gambling Commission; 
• the chief officer of police or chief constable for the area in which the premises is 

completely or partly situated; 
• the fire and rescue authority for the same area; 
• the local planning authority; 
• the noise and nuisance team; 
• the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB); and 
• Her Majesty's Commissioners of Customs and ExciseHM Revenue & Customs. 

• any other person prescribed for the purposes of this section by regulations made by the Secretary 
of State 

 
25.14 Reviews - Applications for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or 

responsible authorities., hHowever, it is for the Licensing Authority to decide whether the review 
application is valid and/or whether it is appropriate to carry out the review, given the circumstances. 

 
25.15 Spread betting – allows an investor to bet on whether they believe that the price quoted 

is likely to strengthen (go up in value) or weaken (go down in value).  The profit or loss for a spread 

Page 54



 

29 
 

bet depends on the difference in the buy and sell price. 
 
25.16 Small Society Lottery - A lottery promoted on behalf of a non-commercial society, i.e. lotteries 

intended to raise funds for good causes. 

 
 
25.17 Temporary-use notices – these allow premises to be used for gambling where there is no  

premises  licence  but  where  a  gambling  operator  wants  to  use  the  premises temporarily 
for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a temporary-use notice 
would include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues. 

 
25.18 Travelling fair – completely or mainly providing amusements on a site that has been used for 

fairs for no more than 27 days in each calendar year.  Any number of category-D machines can 
be made available but the facilities for gambling must not be the main amusements at the fair. 

  

Page 55



 

30 
 

Annex 1 Mandatory Conditions 
 

 

Gambling Act 2005 Mandatory and Default Conditions by premises type 
 

 
All Premises 

All Summary of the terms and conditions of the premises licence shall be displayed 
in a prominent place with the premises. 

Mandatory 

All The layout of the premises shall be maintained in accordance with the plan. Mandatory 

All The premises shall not be used for the sale of tickets in a private lottery or 
customer lottery or the sale of tickets in any other lottery in respect of which the 
sale of tickets on the premises is otherwise prohibited. 

Mandatory 

 
Betting Premises 

Betting 
Premises 

A notice stating that no person under the age of 18 is permitted to enter the 
premises shall be displayed in a prominent place at every entrance to the 
premises. 

 
Mandatory 

Betting 

Premises 

Access to the premises shall be from a street or from other premises with a 
betting premises licence.  Apart from this there must be no direct access between 
the premises and other premises which are used for the retail sale of merchandise 
or services. 

Mandatory 

Betting 
Premises 

The premises shall not be used for any purpose other than for providing facilities 
for betting apart from anything permitted under the Gambling Act 2005 and having 
an ATM, permitted visual/sound apparatus and permitted publications. 

Mandatory 

Betting 

Premises 

Any ATM made available for use on the premises shall be located in a place that 
requires any customer who wishes to use it to leave any gaming machine or 
betting machine in order to do so. 

Mandatory 

Betting 
Premises 

No apparatus for making information or other material available in the form of 
sounds or visual images may be used on the premises, except for apparatus used 
for the following purposes: 

a) Communicating information about, or coverage of, sporting 
events, including- 
(i) information relating to betting on such an event; and 
(ii) any other mater of information, including an advertisement, which 
is incidental to such an event; 
b) Communicating information relating to betting on any event (including the 
result of an event) in connection with which betting transactions may be or 
have been effected on the premises. 

Mandatory 

Betting 

Premises 

No publications, other than racing periodicals or specialist betting publications, 
may be sold or offered for sale on the premises. 

Mandatory 

Betting 

Premises 

No music, dancing or other entertainment shall be provided or permitted on the 
premises, save for entertainment provided via the sound/visual apparatus referred 
to above. 

Mandatory 

Betting 
Premises 

No alcohol shall be permitted to be consumed on the premises at any time during 
which facilities for gambling are being provided on the premises.  A notice 
explaining this shall be displayed in a prominent place at every entrance to the 
premises. 

Mandatory 

Betting 
Premises 

A notice setting out the terms on which customers are invited to bet on the premises 
shall be displayed in a prominent place on the premises to which customers have 
unrestricted access. 

Mandatory 

Betting 
Premises 

HOURS: No facilities for gambling shall be provided on the premises between the 
hours of 10pm on one day and 7am on the next day. 

Default 

  

Page 56



 

31 
 

Betting Tracks only 

Tracks(all) No customer shall be able to access the premises directly from another premises 
which has a casino premises licence or an adult gaming centre premises licence. 

Mandatory 

Tracks (all) A notice stating that no person under the age of 18 is permitted to bet on the 
premises shall be displayed in a prominent place at every public entrance to the 
premises. 

Mandatory 

Tracks(all) The terms on which a bet may be placed must be displayed in a prominent place 
within the premises to which customers wishing to use facilities for betting have 
unrestricted access. 

Mandatory 

Tracks(all) The premises licence holder shall make arrangements  to ensure that betting 
operators who are admitted to the premises for the purpose of accepting bets 
(a) will be operating under a valid operating licence; and 
(b) are enabled to accept such bets in accordance with- 

(i) the conditions imposed  under sections 92 (general betting 
operating licence) or 93 (pool betting operating licence) of the 
2005 Act, or 

(ii) an authorisation under section 94 (horse-race pool betting operating licence) 
of that Act 

Mandatory 

Tracks(all) The premises licence holder shall make arrangements to ensure that reasonable 
steps are taken to remove from the premises any person who is found to be 
accepting bets on the premises otherwise than in accordance with the 2005 Act. 

Mandatory 

Tracks(all) Any ATM made available for use on the premises shall be located in a place that 
requires any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling in order to do so. 

Mandatory 

Horseracing 
Tracks 
(converted 
from an 
existing track) 

The licence holder shall ensure that any part of the tracks which, prior to 1
st 

September 2007, were made available for betting operators (or their assistants) 
will continue to be so. 

Mandatory 

Horseracing 
Tracks 
(converted 
from an 
existing track) 

The charge for admission to an existing betting area for providing facilities for betting 
shall not exceed five times the cost of the highest charge paid by members  of the 
public (for betting operators) or the highest charge paid  by member of the pubic (for 
the betting operator’s assistant).  All betting operators and betting operators’ 
assistants will be charged the same for admission to the same part of the track.  
No other charge may be made and the charges must only cover reasonable costs. 

Mandatory 

Horseracing 
tracks (all) 

The premises licence holder shall provide a place on the premises where betting 
operators and betting operators’ assistants may provide facilities for betting.  This 
does not apply to converted licences until 1stprior to the 01 September 2012. 

Mandatory 

Dog Tracks A totalisator on the premises shall only be operated at a time when the public are 
admitted for the purpose of attending dog races and no other sporting events are 
taking place on the premises, and for the purpose of effecting betting transactions 
on the dog races taking place on the premises. 

Mandatory 

Dog Tracks At any time when the totalisator is being used, no betting operator or betting operator’s 
assistance shall be excluded from the premises for the reason that s/he proposes to 
negotiate bets on the premises.  There must also be space made available where the 
betting operators and their assistants can conveniently accept and negotiate bets in 
connection with the dog races running on the premises that day. 

Mandatory 

Tracks (all) HOURS: No facilities for gambling shall be provided on the premises between the 
hours of 10pm on one day and 7am on the next, except where there is a sporting 
event taking place on the premises.  Where there is a sporting event taking place on 
the premises then gambling may take place at any time that day. 

Default 

 

Page 57



 

32 
 

 

Bingo 

Bingo A notice stating that no person under the age of 18 is permitted to play bingo 
on the premises shall be displayed in a prominent place at every entrance to 
the premises. 

Mandatory 

Bingo No customer shall be able to enter the premises directly from any other 
premises in respect of which one of the following permissions has effect: 

 
• A casino premises licence 

• An adult gaming centre premises licence 

• A betting premises licence other than a track premises licence 

Mandatory 

Bingo Where children and/or young persons are permitted by the licence holder to 
enter the premises, and category B or C gaming machines are made available 
for use on the premises, then the gaming machines must be: 

 
• separated from the rest of the premises by a physical barrier to 

prevent access other than via an entrance designed to be the entrance 

• supervised at all times to ensure children or young persons do not 
enter the area 

• arranged so that the area can be observed by persons responsible 
for supervision or closed circuit television which is monitored 

• 
The gaming machines area must also have a notice at the entrance stating 
that no person under the age of 18 years is permitted to enter the area. 

Mandatory 

Bingo Where there is a charge for admission there must be a notice of the 
charge displayed in a prominent place at the principal entrance to the premises. 

Mandatory 

Bingo A notice setting out any other charges in respect of the gaming (except prize 
gaming) shall be displayed at the main point where payment for the charge is to 
be made.  Such a notice must include the cost (in money) of each game card or 
set of game cards, payable by an individual in respect of the game of bingo, and 
the amount that will be charged by way of a participation fee.  There should also 
be in the notice a statement that all/part of the participation fee may be waived at 
the discretion of the person charging it.  This notice can be displayed in electronic 
form. 

Mandatory 

Bingo The rules of each type of game that is available (other than gaming machines) 
shall be made available to customers within the premises by either displaying a 
sign, making leaflets or other written material available, or running an audio-
visual guide prior to any game commencing. 

Mandatory 

Bingo Any ATM made available for use on the premises shall be located in a place 
that requires any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling in order to do 
so. 

Mandatory 

Bingo HOURS: No facilities for gambling shall be provided on the premises 
between midnight and 9am, apart from gaming machines. 

Default 

  
   
  

Page 58



 

33 
 

 
   
 
 
 

Arcades 

Adult  Gaming 
Centres 

A notice stating that no person under the age of 18 is permitted to enter the 
premises shall be displayed in a prominent place at every entrance to the 
premises. 

Mandatory 

Adult  Gaming 
Centres 

No customer shall be able to access the premises directly from any other 
premises in respect of which a premises licence of the following types of permit 
have effect: 

 
• unlicensed family entertainment centre gaming machine permit 

• club gaming or club machine permit 

• alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permit 

Mandatory 

Adult Gaming 
Centres 

Any ATM made available for use on the premises shall be located in a place that 
requires any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling at any gaming 
machine in order to do so. 

Mandatory 

Adult Gaming 
Centres 

No alcohol shall be permitted to be consumed on the premises at any time during 
which facilities for gambling are being provided on the premises.  A notice to this 
effect shall be displayed at every entrance to the premises in a prominent place. 

Mandatory 

Family 

Entertainment 
Centres 

No customer shall be able to access the premises directly from a premises where 
there is: 

• a casino premises licence 

• an adult gaming centre premises licences 

• a betting premises licence(other than a track premises licence) 

Mandatory 

Family 
Entertainment 
Centres 

Any ATM made available for use on the premises shall be located in a place that 
requires any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling at any gaming 
machine in order to do so. 

Mandatory 

Family 

Entertainment 
Centres 

Where category C gaming machines are made available for use on the premises, 

then the gaming machines must be: 

 
• separated from the rest of the premises by a physical barrier to prevent 

access other than via an entrance designed to be the entrance 

• supervised at all times to ensure children or young persons do not enter 
the area 

• arranged so that the area can be observed by persons responsible for 
supervision, or closed circuit television which is monitored 

 
The gaming machines area must also have a notice at the entrance stating that 
no person under the age of 18 is permitted to enter the area. 

Mandatory 

Family 

Entertainment 
Centres 

No alcohol shall be permitted to be consumed on the premises at any time during 

which facilities for gambling are being provided on the premises.  A notice to this 
effect shall be displayed at every entrance to the premises in a prominent place. 

Mandatory 

 
  

Page 59



 

34 
 

Annex 2 Local Pool of Licence Conditions 
 

The following conditions can be applied to a number of different gambling premises.  They can be 
used as a guide for applicants, residents, Councillors, agencies and responsible authorities such 
as the Police when making, commenting on or considering applications.  This list is not exhaustive 
and should be used as a guide to help promote the three licensing objectives.  Such conditions will 
only be imposed where there is evidence that the imposition of conditions is necessary to ensure 
that the licensing objectives are upheld, 

 
CCTV 

CCTV covering areas inside and outside of the premises should be installed and maintained to police 
recommendations with properly maintained log arrangements. All images will be stored for a minimum 
of 31 days.  

 
A staff member from the premises that is conversant with the operation of the CCTV system will be on 
the premises at all times that the premises are open to the public. This staff member will be able to show 
police recent data footage with the minimum of delay when requested. This data or footage reproduction 
should be almost instantaneous. 

 
 

Training 

Full training shall be given to each member of staff employed at the premises.  This training should 
include sections on compliance, fraud, robbery and crime prevention. 

 
Written records of all staff training shall be kept at the premises and should be made available to the 
Police and/or authorised Council officers on request 

 
Responsible Management 

An incident log book will be maintained by the premises that details incidents that occur in the 
premises.  This shall include refused sales, disorder, and ejections at a minimum.  Management shall 
regularly check the book to ensure that staff are using it.  The log book shall be kept on the premises 
and should be made available for inspection by the Police or Council Officers at any time the premises 
is open. 
 

Protecting children, proof of age schemes 

A Proof of Age scheme shall operate at the premises and all staff shall be trained in its implementation.  
Only photographic ID such as a British driving licence, a current passport or a PASS ID card shall be 
treated as acceptable forms of identification 

 
All staff shall be trained in the Proof of Age policy and how to identify acceptable means of 
identification. 

 
Posters shall be displayed in prominent positions around the entrance to the premises advising 
customers of the Proof of Age policy in force at the premises 

 
A refusals book will be maintained by the premises that details all refusals to provide gambling activities.  
This book shall contain the date and time of the incident, a description of the customer, the name of the 
staff member who refused the sale, and the reason the sale was refused.  The refusal book  

Page 60



 

35 
 

 

shall be kept on the premises and should be made available for inspection by the Police and/or 
authorised Council officers at any time the premises is open. 

Door Supervisors 

Any door supervisors working at the premises must be licensed by the Security Industry Authority 
 
A minimum of (insert number) door supervisors shall be on duty on the premises during the hours of 
(insert times) on (insert days of the week) 

 
A minimum of (insert number) door supervisors shall be provided on (insert days of week) to patrol 
external areas of the premises between the hours of (insert times) 

 
 
Random searches shall be undertaken of customers entering the premises between the hours of 
(insert times) and prominent signage provided to this effect 

 
Crime Prevention 

A metal detection device shall randomly be used by door supervisors to search patrons for weapons 

A search arch shall be used at the entrance to the premises to detect customers who may be carrying 
weapons 

 
An electronic door lock (maglock) shall be fitted to the front door of the premises. 

 
Any drugs or weapons confiscated from customers shall be stored in a locked and secure container 
and the Police shall be notified as soon as reasonably practicable. 

All gaming machines shall have a control behind the counter to allow machines to be turned on or off. 

(Insert crime prevention device – see examples below) shall be installed at the premises to the 
satisfaction of the Police licensing officer 

 
• Shutters 
• Re – enforced steel back/front doors 
• Window bars 
• External lighting 
• Security mirrors 
• Prevention signage 

 
No facilities for gambling shall be provided on the premises between the hours of (Insert time) on one 
day and (Insert time) on the next day 

 

Any entrance or exit doors to the premises shall remain closed at all times (i.e. not propped open) 
 
A panic button shall be installed behind the counter or service area in the premises.  This button should 
alert the Police to any incident taking place at the premises. 

 
Lone working is not permitted in the premises at any time 
 

 
 

  

Page 61



 

36 
 

Annex 3 – Local Area Profile Map 
 

 

Page 62


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Annual Licensing Team Update
	Appendix 1 Licensing Committee Report 2017-2018

	5 Review of the Council's Statement of Gambling Policy
	statement_of_gambling_policy_2019_-_2022_draft-2


